
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




 


 


 


 


National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


 November 5-6, 2014 Draft Agenda and Board Book Tabs  


National Harbor, Maryland 


 


Gaylord National Resort and Convention Center 


201 Waterfront Street 


National Harbor, MD 20745 


Room: National Harbor 13 


 


Conference line:  866-560-0760, Passcode: 2832957  


Web link:  https://mmancusa.webex.com/mmancusa/j.php?MTID=mb8f304067df246fdc96aa82dddafa22f  


 


 
Wednesday, November 5 


  
 


  
1:00-1:15  
 
 
 
 
 


Welcome, Introductions, and Housekeeping 
Desired outcomes: 


 Board action to approve draft agenda and draft June call 
meeting summary. 


 Board review of future meeting schedules and format. 
 


Tab 1 
 


Kelly Hepler (Board  
Chair-AK Dept. of Fish 
and Game) 


 
1:15-1:30 


 
Chair Updates 
Desired outcome: 


 Informational update on Executive Leadership Team 
National Fish Habitat Board member decisions  
 
 


 
Tab 2 


 
Kelly Hepler (Board  
Chair-AK Dept. of Fish 
and Game) 


1:30-2:00 National Fish Habitat Board Leadership 
Desired outcome:  


 Board action on National Fish Habitat Board leadership 
 


Tab 3 Ron Regan (Board 
Member, AFWA) 


 
2:00-2:30 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2:30 -3:00 
 
 
 
 


 
Partnership Committee Report 
Desired outcome: 


 Informational update to the Board on workshop 
accomplishments and outcomes 


 Informational update to the Board on committee 
accomplishments towards meeting 2014 priorities, 
priority issues and funding needs for 2015. 
 


 
Multi-state Conservation Grant Program 
Desired outcomes: 


 Informational update on the 2014 Multi-state 
Conservation Grant in place and 2015 grant.  


 
Tab 4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Tab 5 
 
 
 
 


 
Stan Allen (Board 
Member, Pacific States 
Marine Fisheries 
Commission) 
 
 
 
 
 
Ryan Roberts (Board 
Staff- AFWA ) 
 
 
 



https://mmancusa.webex.com/mmancusa/j.php?MTID=mb8f304067df246fdc96aa82dddafa22f





 


 


 


 


 
3:00 – 3:15  
 
 
3:15 – 4:00  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4:00 – 4:30 
 
 
 
 
 
4:30 – 5:00 


 
Break 
 
 
501(c)(3) Development 
Desired outcome: 


 Informational update on progress to date, next steps, 
and timeline. 


 Board action on recommended slate of Board of 
Directors 


 
 
FHP Performance Evaluation 


 Board action on 2015 approach 
 
 
 
 
NFHP and Foster Awards 
 


 
 
 
 
Tab 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Tab 7 


 
 
 
 
Mike Andrews (Board 
Vice Chair – The Nature 
Conservancy) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Kelly Hepler (Board Chair 
– AK Dept of Fish and 
Game) 
 
 
 
Kelly Hepler (Board Chair 
– AK Dept of Fish and 
Game) 
and Buck Sutter (Board 
Member, NOAA-NMFS) 


    
5:30 – 6:30 
 
 
 
Thursday, 
November 6 


Happy Hour at McLoone’s Pier House (National Harbor) 
  
http://www.mcloonespierhousenh.com/home 
 


 
 
 


 
 
 


    
    
8:00 – 9:45 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9:45 - 10:00 
 
 
10:00 – 12:00  
 
 


Board 2015 Priorities and Draft Budget 
Desired outcomes: 


 Board understanding of Science and Data, Partnership, 
and Communications Committee priorities and funding 
needs for 2015  


 Board discussion of 2015 Priorities as they relate to 
the National Fish Habitat Action Plan Objectives 


 
 
Break 
 
 
Joint Meeting with RAE Board 
Desired outcomes: 


 Informational update to Board on RAE Board make-up, 
function, and operations 


Tabs 8, 
9, 10  
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
Tab 11 
 
 
 


Kelly Hepler (Board Chair 
– AK Dept of Fish and 
Game) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jeff Benoit (RAE 
President) 


 


 



http://www.mcloonespierhousenh.com/home





 


 


 


 


 Board discussion with RAE Board members regarding 
opportunities for collaboration (e.g. restoration, 
legislation, etc.) 


 
 


 
 


12:00-1:30  
 
 
1:30 - 2:00  
 
 
 
 
2:00 – 2:45  
 
 
 
 
 
 
2:45 – 3:15 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3:15 – 3:30 
 
 
3:30-4:00 
 
 
 


Lunch 
 
 
USFWS FAC Strategic Plan Development 
Desired outcome: 
Informational update on status of development. 
 
 
Partnership Presentation 
Desired outcome: 


 Informational update on the accomplishments and 
challenges facing Kenai Peninsula Fish Habitat 
Partnership 


 
 
Board 2015 Priorities and Draft Budget (cont.)  
Desired outcome:  


 Informational update on Science and Data Committee 
membership and leadership 


 
 
 
Break 
 
 
Legislative Update 
Desired outcome 
 Board awareness of the National Fish Habitat 


Conservation Act status and 2015 legislative approach 
 
 


 
 
 
Tab 12 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Tab 13 
 
 
 


 
 
 
David Hoskins (USFWS 
Asst. Director, Fish and 
Aquatic Conservation) 
 
 
Robert Ruffner  (Kenai 
Peninsula Fish Habitat 
Partnership) 
 
 
 
 
Gary Whelan  (Board 
Staff – MI Dept. of 
Natural Resources) and 
Andrea Ostroff (Board 
Staff – USGS) 
 
 
 
 
 
Libby Yranski (American 
Sport Fishing Association) 
 
 
 
 
 


4:00 – 4:30 Report on the Performance Evaluation of the Board 
Desired outcome:  
 Board awareness of qualitative results.  
 


 Mike Andrews (Board 
Vice Chair – The Nature 
Conservancy) 


 
 
4:30-4:45 


 
 


Meeting wrap up 


 
 
 


 
 
Kelly Hepler (Board Chair 
– AK Dept of Fish and 
Game) 


 








  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
  November 5-6, 2014 
  Tab 1b 
   


 
 
National Fish Habitat Board Conference Call Summary: June 25, 2014  
Members present: 
Stan Allen (PSMFC)                  David Hoskins (USFWS)                               Sam Rauch (NMFS) 
Doug Austen (AFS)                   Joe Larscheid (MAFWA)                              Mike Stone (WAFWA)        
Brad Gentner (CCA)                 Chris Moore (MAFMC)                                Leroy Young (NEAFWA) 
Kelly Hepler (ADFG)                 Doug Norton for Ellen Gilinsky (EPA)       Libby Yranski for Gordon Robertson (ASA)                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  
                                                                                                                                        
Members absent:  
Mike Andrews (TNC), Doug Boyd (SFBPC), Tom Champeau (SEAFWA), Chris Horton (CSF), Fred Matt (NAFWS), Ron 
Regan (AFWA), Chris Savage (USFS), Krystyna Wolniakowski (NFWF), and Steve Moyer (TU)  
                 
Motions approved: 


 March Board Meeting Minutes Approved  


 
Updates and discussions: 


 Welcome, Introductions, and Housekeeping – The Board heard a brief overview of the Federal Leadership 
Meeting and overview of recent Partnership Committee developments.  The Partnership Committee will 
be jointly chaired by Steve Perry, Stan Allen, and Mike Stone, each taking on a respective task.  It was 
noted that the committee would appreciate more defined tasks.  The Board heard an overview of the 
USFWS-NFHP FY14 Allocation process and that it had resulted in a reshuffling of funds.  A desire to move 
funds more quickly to the ground, while also providing more time for documentation preparation and 
review was noted.  A template to help with submissions and review is under development.  A request that 
more detailed FHP performance results be made available was made.   


 Executive Leadership Team Update – It was noted that the ELT would convene in July to examine terms, 
members who have moved on, and the chairmanship.  It was noted that Board members whose terms are 
up could be reappointed, and knowing their desires would be helpful.  It was noted that participation 
rates would be reviewed so that they have active members. 


 Corporate Engagement Strategy Update – The Board heard an overview of an education and outreach 
campaign for which funding assistance from NOAA and others including FishPond, Johnny Morris, and 
Patagonia is currently or will be sought.  The Communications Committee is also engaged in this effort. 


 Mitigating Impacts to Waters and Wetlands: In-Leu Fee Programs – The Board was informed that a 
presentation had been made to the FHPs regarding 404 programs under the Clean Water Act.  It was 
noted that there are several states without an In-Leu Fee (ILF) program, but that it would be a heavy lift 
for an FHP to sponsor an ILF program when considering their current capacity and scope.  An FHP can still 
carry out a project without being a sponsor. 


 NOAA National Saltwater Fishing Policy  - The Board heard a presentation on the purpose of the policy, 
intersections with habitat, and opportunity for comment.  Discussion included how ‘conservation’ is 
defined and policy l inkages to NOAA Focus Areas.  It was noted that with regard to commitments from 
FHPs, communication from Board should be clear and presented as an ‘ask’. It was noted that the policy 
does not apply to non-coastal states, but the coastal FHPs may be an avenue.   


 Legislative Update – The Board heard an update on the National Fish Conservation Act including that the 
bil l was expected to move to the Senate floor in the next week or so, and that action was hoped for during 
the first week in July.  The Bill has more provisions this time, but they are largely the same.  They are 
working on introducing in the House of Representatives.   


 501(c)(3) Update – WNTI representative provided the Board with guidance on selecting members for a 
501(c)(3) Board.  No concerns from the Board regarding staff recommendation proposed in the Board 







  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
  November 5-6, 2014 
  Tab 1b 
   


book materials. 
Action items:   


 The Partnership Committee’s top task will be preparing for the November workshop.   
 Board members will be solicited for whether there are any topics the Board would like to see the 


Partnership committee take on. 
 USFWS will work with regional coordinators to provide desired detailed feedback to FHPs regarding the 


FY14 USFWS-NFHP funding allocation. 
 ELT decisions will be reported back to the Board 
 Subset of staff and/or Board will follow-up on In-Leu Fee Programs 
 A list of 501(c)(3) Board members will be put to vote by non-federal National Fish Habitat Board members 


in either July (via email) or November (in person) 
 Staff will look into 501(c)(3) Chapter policies 


Future Board meetings: 
 November 5-6, 2014, Washington DC (in conjunction with the 7th National Summit on Coastal and 


Estuarine Restoration) 
 January Board Call 


Board approved documents:   
N/A 


Additional attendees:  
Kayla Barrett (DFHP)                            Steve Perry (EBTJV)                             Scott Roth (USFWS)                                               
Karen Eldridge (USFWS)                      Rob Harper (USFS)                               Joe Starinchak (USFWS) 
Brian Elkington (USFWS)                     Robin Knox (WNTI)                              Buck Sutter (NMFS)                                            
Christopher Estes                                 Cecil ia Lewis (staff, USFWS)               Therese Thompson (WNTI) 
Emily Greene (staff, NMFS)                Chris Meaney (staff, NMFS)               Susan Wells 
Roger Harding (ADFG)                         Ryan Roberts (staff, AFWA)               Gary Whelan (SDC co-chair, MI DNR) 
 


                  








Meetings of the National Fish Habitat Board 2006-2015 


Proposed Schedule of Future Board Meetings 2014-2015 


Year Date Location Comments 


2014 


March 9-10 
(Sun-Mon) 


Denver, CO 
Meet w/ State fish chiefs + FWS 
ARDs 


June 25 (Wed) Teleconference / web conference Replaces summer in-person meeting 


Week of Nov 3 Washington DC area 
Held in conjunction w/ RAE Summit 


at National Harbor in Maryland 


2015 


January 14 
(Wed) 


Teleconference Annual budget & priorities 


March 3-4 


(Tue-Wed) 
Washington DC area The Nature Conservancy 


June 24 (Wed) Teleconference / web conference 


October 20-21 


(Tue-Wed) 
Northern California  


Record of Past Board Meetings -2006 -2013 


Year Date Location Facility 


2006 
September 22 Aspen, Colorado Hotel 


November 16 Washington, DC Hall of States 


2007 


January 16 Teleconference 


March 1-2 Washington, DC Environmental Protection Agency 


June 6-7 Washington, DC Commerce Department 


October 2-3 Arlington, VA Hotel 


2008 


February 20-21 St. Petersburg, FL Tampa Bay Watch 


May 13-14 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 


October 7-8 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 


2009 


March 4-5 Harrisburg, PA Pennsylvania Fish & Boat Commission 


June 25, 2009 Leesburg, VA National Conference Center 


October 7-8 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 


2010 


January 15 Teleconference 


March 3-4 Memphis, TN Ducks Unlimited 


June 9-10 Silver Spring, MD NOAA headquarters 


August 25 Teleconference 


October 12-14 Portland, OR Columbia River Intertribal Fisheries  Commission 


2011 


January 13 Teleconference 


March 11 Teleconference 


April 12-13 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 


July 26-27 Madison, WI Hotel 


October 19-20 Albuquerque, NM FWS Regional Office 


2012 
January 12 Teleconference 


March 1 Teleconference 


National Fish Habitat Board
November 5-6, 2014


Tab 1c







 
 


Meetings of the National Fish Habitat Board 2006-2015 Tab 1 
April 17-18 Arlington, VA The Nature Conservancy 


July 10-11 Portland, ME Hotel 


October 16-17 Ridgedale, MO Big Cedar Lodge 


2013 


January 16 Teleconference  


February 26-27 Arlington, VA FWS headquarters 


April 15 Teleconference  


June 25-26 Salt Lake City, UT Utah State Capitol 


October 22-23 Charleston, SC NOAA Coastal Services Center 


2014 January 15 Teleconference Annual budget & priorities 


 


Total:  33 (in-person and teleconference) meetings held to date 








	  
National	  Fish	  Habitat	  Board	  Meeting	  


November	  5-‐6,	  2014	  	  	  
Tab	  2a	  


	  
	  
Title: National Fish Habitat Board Executive Leadership Team Update 
 
Desired outcome(s): Board awareness of changes to the National Fish Habitat Board Membership 
 
Background:  


The Executive Leadership Team met via conference call on July 11, 2014 to discuss National Fish 
Habitat Board Membership.  Several individuals on the National Fish Habitat Board were reviewed 
based on either: (a) having reached the end of their term or (b) their degree of participation (i.e. 
ability to attend regularly scheduled Board meetings).     


After additional follow-up communication, the Board’s Executive Leadership Team has approved the 
following appointments to the National Fish Habitat Board: 


 


- Chris Wood, Trout Unlimited representing At large – Conservation (re-appointment) 
 
- Kevin O’Donovan, Coastal Conservation Association representing At large – Sportfishing (same 
organization, new individual) 
 
- Doug Boyd, Sport Fishing and Boating Partnership Council representing At large – Sportfishing 
(re-appointment) 
 
- Whit Fosburgh, President and CEO, Theodore Roosevelt Conservation Partnership representing At 
large – Sportfishing (new organization) 
 
- Kelley Meyer, IA Department of Natural Resources Fisheries Bureau representing Midwest AFWA 
to serve out the remainder of Joe Larscheid’s term (same organization, new individual). 
 
- Ron Skates, Native American Fish and Wildlife Society representing Tribal, to serve out the 
remainder of Fred Matt’s term (same organization, new individual). 
 
- Mike Leonard, American Sportfishing Association representing At large-Sportfishing to serve out 
the remainder of Gordon Robertson’s term (same organization, new individual).  
 


 


Briefing Book Materials: 


Board Member List and Terms 








National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


November 5-6, 2014   
Tab 2b 


 
NFHP Board Membership (As of October 2014) 


Last Name First Name Organization Representing Next Review  


Allen Stan 


Pacific States Marine Fisheries 


Commission At large- Commercial fishing June 2016 


Andrews Michael The Nature Conservancy At large - Conservation June 2016 


Austen Doug American Fisheries Society  AFS July 2015 


Boyd Douglass 
Sportfishing and Boating Partnership 
Council At large- Sportfishing July 2017 


Champeau Tom 
FL Fish and Wildlife Conservation 
Commission SEAFWA July 2015 


Fosburgh Whit 


Theodore Roosevelt Conservation 


Partnership At large- Sportfishing July 2017 


Gilinsky Ellen US Environmental Protection Agency Federal June 2016 


Hepler Kelly Alaska Department of Fish and Game Alaska July 2015 


Leonard Mike American Sportfishing Association At large-Sportfishing June 2016 


Moore Chris 
Mid-Atlantic Fishery Management 
Council At large- Commercial fishing October 2016  


Myers Kelley 


IA Department of Natural Resources 


Fisheries Bureau Midwest AFWA July 2015 


O’Donovan Kevin Coastal Conservation Association At large - Sportfishing July 2017 


Savage Chris USDA Forest Service Federal agency July 2015 


Skates Ron 
Native American Fish and Wildlife 
Society Tribal July 2015 


Stone Mike Western AFWA WAFWA July 2015 


Wood Chris Trout Unlimited At large - Conservation July 2017 


Young Leroy  PA Fish and Boat Commission NEAFWA July 2015 


NA  National Fish and Wildlife Foundation NFWF July 2015 


Board members serving by virtue of their offices 


Ashe Dan U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Federal agency  


Rauch Sam NOAA Fisheries Service  Federal agency   


Regan Ron 
Association of Fish and Wildlife 
Agencies AFWA  


 


 








 
National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


November 5-6, 2014   
Tab 3a 


 
Title: National Fish Habitat Board Leadership  


 


Desired outcome(s): Board action on National Fish Habitat Board Leadership 


 


Background: According to National Fish Habitat Board Bylaws, no chair shall serve more than 3 


consecutive terms.  Additionally, Bylaws state that the Chair shall be elected by the Board from 


among the state government representatives.   


Kelly Hepler succeeded John Cooper of chair of the National Fish Habitat Board in May of 2008.  He 


has served two successive two year terms.   The current vice chair is not a state representative and 


thus cannot ascend to the role of chair. 


 


Briefing Book Materials: 


Charter and Bylaws 








Adopted by the National Fish Habitat Board on September 22, 2006  
Revised April 19, 2007, and  October 13, 2010 


 


1 
 


Charter 
National Fish Habitat Board 


 
I. BACKGROUND  
The National Fish Habitat Board (hereafter “Board”) is responsible for carrying out a cooperative 
nationwide program to conserve (protect, restore and enhance) the habitats of the Nation’s marine and 
freshwater fish populations. The Board is a voluntary association of public and private sector entities 
that serves as the body overseeing the implementation of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan (“Plan”).  
 
II. MISSION and GOALS  
The purpose of the Board is to promote, oversee, and coordinate implementation of the Plan.  
The Board’s mission is to conserve (protect, restore and enhance) the nation’s fish and aquatic 
communities through partnerships that foster fish habitat conservation and improve the quality of life 
for the American people.  
This mission will be achieved by:  


• Providing national leadership and coordination to conserve fish habitats.  
• Approving and supporting Fish Habitat Partnerships and fostering new efforts.  
• Establishing interim and long-term national fish habitat conservation goals and supporting 


regional fish habitat conservation goals.  
• Mobilizing and focusing national and local support for fish habitat conservation.  
• Measuring and communicating the status and needs of fish habitats.  


 
The Board’s goals are to:  


• Protect and maintain intact and healthy aquatic systems.  
• Prevent further degradation of fish habitats that have been adversely affected.  
• Reverse declines in the quality and quantity of aquatic habitats to improve the overall health of 


fish and other aquatic organisms.  
• Increase the quality and quantity of fish habitats that support a broad natural diversity of fish 


and other aquatic species.  
• Increase fish and therefore fishing opportunities.  


 
In furtherance of the Plan’s mission, the Board's role is to:  


• Coordinate agency and stakeholder involvement at the national level.  
• Develop appropriate policies and guidance for recognizing Fish Habitat Partnerships.  
• Develop processes to prioritize and deliver National Fish Habitat Action Plan funds to the 


partnerships.  
•  Develop criteria for funding and related resources.  
• Establish national partnerships or other arrangements that provide funding and other resources 


to the Fish Habitat Partnerships and other efforts of the Plan.  







Adopted by the National Fish Habitat Board on September 22, 2006  
Revised April 19, 2007, and  October 13, 2010 


 


2 
 


• Establish national measures of success and evaluation criteria guidelines for Fish Habitat 
Partnerships and facilitate Fish Habitat Partnership adaptation of these guidelines for their 
unique systems.  


• Report to Congress, States and other partners on the status and accomplishments of the 
National Fish Habitat Action Plan.  


• Carry out such administrative, organizational, or procedural matters as are necessary or proper.  
 
III. BOARD BYLAWS  
 
A. Appointment – The Board will be appointed by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT). The membership 
of the ELT shall consist of: the President and Executive Director of the Association of Fish and Wildlife 
Agencies; Assistant Administrator for Fisheries, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration; and 
the Director of the Fish and Wildlife Service, Department of the Interior. The ELT will have final 
responsibility for appointment and, if necessary, removal of all Board members, except those serving by 
virtue of their office.  
 
B. Membership  
 
1. Members--The Board shall consist of up to 22 members.  
 
2. State Government Representatives--The Board shall include five state fish and wildlife agency 
representatives and the Executive Director of the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies. Each of the 
four regional Associations of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (Northeast, Southeast, Midwest, and Western) 
shall nominate a representative to the ELT for approval. The fifth state representative will be appointed 
by the ELT. These representatives shall be selected to create an appropriate balance between inland and 
coastal states. The Executive Director of the Association shall serve by the virtue of his or her office.  
 
3. Federal Government Representatives.—The Board shall include up to five federal agency 
representatives. These shall include the Assistant Administrator for Fisheries, National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration, and the Director of the Fish and Wildlife Service, Department of the 
Interior, who shall serve by virtue of their office.  
 
4. Indian Tribal Representation—The Board shall include at least one representative from an Indian 
tribal or native Alaskan government.  
 
5. The National Fish and Wildlife Foundation and the American Fisheries Society each shall nominate a 
representative for approval by the ELT.  
 
6. The remaining eight members shall be appointed to ensure the Board includes representation from 
the following range of interests: sportfishing, commercial fishing, sportfishing industry, academic, and 
land and aquatic resource conservation organizations. In addition, these members shall be appointed to 







Adopted by the National Fish Habitat Board on September 22, 2006  
Revised April 19, 2007, and  October 13, 2010 


 


3 
 


ensure the Board includes a balance of governmental and non-governmental organizations and a 
balance of freshwater and marine interests.  
 
C. Terms of Service  
 
1. Normal Term--Except as provided in paragraphs (3) and (4) of this Subsection, the term of office of a 
member of the Board is three years.  
 
2. Members whose terms have expired shall serve until replaced.  
 
3. Initial Appointment—The initial appointment of the charter Board shall be for a term of three years.  
 
4. Transitional Re-appointment – Except for the members appointed under paragraphs (2), (4) and (5) of 
Section III.B., four shall be re-appointed initially for a term of one year, four shall be re-appointed for a 
term of two years, and up to five shall be re-appointed for a term of three years. After these transitional 
terms, terms will be as provided in paragraph (1) of this Subsection.  
 
5. Vacancies—Any vacancy among the Board members shall be filled through appointment by the ELT, 
and any Board member appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of that term for which 
his or her predecessor was appointed.  
 
D. Procedures  
 
1. Selection of Board Chair-- At the first meeting of the Board, the Board shall elect a Chair from the 
state government membership of the Board. Each subsequent Chair shall be elected by the Board from 
among the state government representatives.  
 
2. Term of Chair—The term of any Chair shall be two years, provided that any Chair may serve 
successive terms. No Chair shall serve more than 3 consecutive terms.  
 
3. Meetings--The Board shall meet at the call of the Chair at least twice a year. The Chair shall endeavor 
to establish a proposed meeting schedule identifying potential meeting dates within the twelve month 
period following each meeting of the Board. Except as provided below, the Chair must give Board 
members at least two months’ notice of a Board meeting and shall provide a draft agenda at that time. 
Notice must be provided in writing, but may be delivered by email or facsimile to each Board member. 
The Chair with due cause may call the Board for emergency meetings, provided, however, that business 
of the meeting must be restricted to the reasons for which the meeting is called.  
 
Board meetings shall be open to the public, provided, however, that the Board may meet in executive 
sessions closed to the public to discuss personnel, legal matters, or any other matter of a private or 
necessarily confidential nature. These closed sessions shall be clearly identified in the meeting 







Adopted by the National Fish Habitat Board on September 22, 2006  
Revised April 19, 2007, and  October 13, 2010 


 


4 
 


announcement. Notification of Board meetings shall be made to members of the Partners Coalition and 
other interested parties.  
 
4. Quorum--A majority of the current membership of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business.  
 
5. Participation and Attendance--If a Board member is not able to attend a Board meeting he or she may 
appoint a designee provided an official proxy is signed and presented to the Board Chair. A Board 
member may designate another Board member to hold his/her proxy, but no Board member may 
hold more than 1 proxy. If a Board member, other than a Board member who serves by virtue of office, 
fails to attend three consecutive regularly scheduled meetings, the Chair, in consultation with the ELT, 
may remove that person from the Board and request that the ELT appoint a replacement. A Board 
member may participate in a Board meeting by conference call with the prior approval of the Chair. If a 
Board member, other than a Board member who serves by virtue of office, attends three consecutive 
regularly scheduled meetings by conference call, the Chair, in consultation with the ELT, may remove 
that person from the Board and request that the ELT appoint a replacement.  
 
6. Voting--The Board should strive to achieve consensus on all actions proposed. If consensus cannot be 
achieved within the time frame allotted to the action on the agenda, all actions must be approved by 
the vote of two-thirds of all members present and voting. Each Board member shall have one vote. All 
voting shall proceed under Robert’s Rules of Order. The Board may extend the discussion period for 
items on the agenda, or consider items not on the proposed agenda for a meeting, provided that such 
changes to the agenda must be approved by a vote at the time they are proposed.  
 
7. Other Procedures--The Board shall establish other procedures as needed to schedule meetings, 
develop agendas, and otherwise facilitate and conduct business, including those procedures or matters 
required to comply with any requirements resulting from incorporation of the Board under law.  
 
8. Chair’s Responsibilities—In addition to such duties established elsewhere in these bylaws, the Chair 
shall:  


a. Prepare a written agenda of all matters to be considered by the Board at any meeting;  
b. Prepare and issue all notices, including notices of meetings, required to be given to the Board 


and public;  
c. Preside at all meetings of the Board and, unless otherwise directed by the Board, present items 


of business for consideration by the Board in the order listed on the agenda for the meeting;  
d. Conduct all meetings in accordance with Robert’s Rules of Order and these bylaws;  
e. 4 Adopted by the National Fish Habitat Board on September 22, 2006 Revised April 19, 2007  
f. Appoint committees as required; and  
g. Perform other duties as requested by the Board.  


 







Adopted by the National Fish Habitat Board on September 22, 2006  
Revised April 19, 2007, and  October 13, 2010 


 


5 
 


9. Appointment of Vice-Chair—The Board shall elect a Vice-Chair from among the Board membership. In 
the absence of the Chair, or in the event of the Chair’s inability to act, or a conflict of interest for the 
Chair, the Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair, and when so acting, shall have all the powers 
of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chair. The Vice-Chair shall perform such other duties as 
from time to time may be assigned by the Chair or by the ELT. The term of the Vice-Chair shall be the 
same as the term of the Chair.  
 
E. Board Responsibilities  
 


1. Coordination - The Board will coordinate agency and stakeholder involvement at the national 
level and establish national partnerships that provide funding and other resources to the 
Partnerships and other efforts of the Plan.  


 
2. Conservation Goals and Objectives - The Board will develop and amend, as appropriate, specific 


national fish habitat conservation goals and objectives with the advice from the Science and 
Data Committee established pursuant to Paragraph (2) of Subsection F of this Section.  


 
3. Partnerships - The Board will develop and amend, as appropriate, a strategy to encourage the 


formation of Fish Habitat Partnerships (“Partnerships”). This strategy will be updated 
periodically to include new information on fish habitat status and the status of existing 
Partnerships.  


 
4. Recognition of Partnerships - The Board shall develop and amend, as appropriate, criteria for 


recognition of Partnerships. The Board shall distribute the criteria, establish a process for parties 
to use in seeking recognition as a Partnership, and maintain a publicly accessible registry of 
recognized Partnerships. Such criteria shall include provisions to promote transparency and the 
highest standards of ethical conduct in the decision-making of the Board regarding recognition 
of Partnerships.  


 
5. Evaluation Criteria- The Board will establish national measures of success and evaluation criteria 


guidelines for Partnerships  
 


6. Funding - The Board will develop and implement strategies to increase public and private 
funding for fish habitat conservation, provided that the responsibility for implementation of 
such strategies by any Board member shall be limited by any legal or administrative restrictions 
that may apply to the activities of any such member.  


 
7. Report - The Board will develop a strategy (including funding) to support development of a 


“Status of Fish Habitats in the United States” report to Congress States, and other partners. The 
report shall be completed in 2010, and every 5 years after.  


 







Adopted by the National Fish Habitat Board on September 22, 2006  
Revised April 19, 2007, and  October 13, 2010 


 


6 
 


F. Coordination and Support  
 
1. Staff–The Board shall accept staff support provided by The Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies, 
the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration’s National Marine Fisheries Service, and the U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service. The Chair, in consultation with the contributing entities, shall act on behalf of 
the Board in directing the activities of the staff. The Chair, in consultation with the Board, may accept 
additional staff or other support from other entities. The contributing entities shall use their best efforts 
to provide common office space for all Board staff and take such other measures as they deem 
appropriate to facilitate communication, cohesiveness, and efficient operations for the benefit of the 
Board.  
 
2. Science and Data Committee --The Board shall establish a Science and Data Committee chaired by a 
State representative or another entity recommended by the Committee and approved by the Board, and 
consisting of at least two State agency representatives, two Federal agency representatives, two non-
governmental organization representatives, and two academic representatives. All Committee members 
will have demonstrated knowledge of the Plan’s science foundation. The Board shall solicit information 
from the Science and Data Committee and incorporate that information, and other appropriate 
information, into the strategies and goals developed by the Board. The Board will support the Science 
and Data Team by providing necessary staff, funding, data and other resources needed to complete the 
national assessments and reports called for in the Plan.  
 
3. Federal Caucus–The Board shall coordinate with the broadest possible range of Federal agencies 
through the Federal Caucus, a partnership of Federal agencies organized to coordinate Federal 
participation in the implementation of the Action Plan, and make every attempt to expand the Federal 
Caucus to include all Federal agencies involved with fish habitat. The Board shall coordinate with the 
Federal agencies to develop and implement habitat protection and rehabilitation strategies at national 
and regional scales, to ensure that Federal agencies policies are consistent with the Plan, and to 
otherwise support implementation of the Plan.  
 
4. Partners Coalition--The Board shall coordinate with the broadest possible range of stakeholders and 
other interested parties to increase involvement and support for coordinated fish habitat conservation 
at national and regional scales.  
 
G. Committees  
The Board may establish and otherwise manage committees as needed to carry out the responsibilities 
of the Board. Such committees may include individuals who are not members of the Board.  
 
H. Board and Committee Expenses  
Board and Committee members will not be compensated for their time working on Board or Committee 
business or traveling to meetings. Travel expenses generally should be borne by the agency or other 







Adopted by the National Fish Habitat Board on September 22, 2006  
Revised April 19, 2007, and  October 13, 2010 


 


7 
 


entity that employs the Board or Committee member, but reimbursement arrangements may be made 
if funds for this purpose are available.  
 
IV. Procedure to Amend Charter  
The Board may decide to amend this charter by consensus or a two-thirds vote of all members present 
and voting. Any proposed change to this charter must be noted on the draft agenda that is sent out at 
the time the meeting is scheduled.  








National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 4a 


 


National Fish Habitat Partnership Workshop 
 


Gaylord National Resort and Convention Center 


201 Waterfront Street 
National Harbor, MD 20745 


Room: National Harbor 13 
 


Sunday - November 2, 2014 
 
 


8:30 – 8:45 Greeting, ground rules, introductions   


 
 
8:45 – 9:15   Marketing NFHP and the  NFHP Rebranding Process (Johnny Le Coq/Eli 


Gerson/Joe Starinchak/Ryan Roberts) 
- What is marketing and re-branding? 
- Why is marketing and re-branding important? 
- What does marketing and re-branding mean for FHPs? 


 


 
9:15– 10:30 Guided Rebranding Break-outs   


Theme 1: Ownership Exercises 
Theme 2: Laying the foundation for future work 


 
 
10:30 – 10:40 Break 
 


 
10:40 – 11:10 Pulling it All Together: Marketing, Re-Branding, and Fundraising  


- Timeline for future webinars and next steps 
 


 


11:10-11:40 Building Awareness about Habitat Conservation (Communications and 


Outreach) Case Study Panel: Collaboration with the national level, across FHPs, 


and within FHPs   
Suggested Panel: Ryan Roberts on a successful National – FHP collaboration 
example; Lindsay Gardner on Whitewater to Bluewater collaborative communication 
efforts; and Roger Harding on the SeAK Film Festival. 
 


 
11:40-12:10 Communications Break-outs:  Building upon existing collaborations and 


identifying new opportunities   
Regional Break-outs 


 


12:10 - 1:10   Lunch  
 
 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 4a 


 
1:15 – 1:45 NFHP Performance Evaluation and USFWS Allocation (Stan Allen and Cecilia 


Lewis) 
- Summary of purpose and approved process for NFHP Performance Evaluation 


- Presentation of options for a path forward 
- FHP questions and comments for Board consideration 


-USFWS Allocation FY15 Process 
 


 
1:45 - 2:45 501(c)(3) - National Fish Habitat Fund (Mike Andrews/Matt Menashes) 


- National Fish Habitat Fund overview 
- Road map & tools for FHP participation 


- 501(c)(3) Question and Answer Session 
 


 
2:45 - 3:00 Break 


 
 
3:00 – 3:30 Funding Case Study Panel: Collaboration with the national level, across FHPs, 


and within FHPs   
  Suggested Panel: Ryan Roberts on MSCGP; PMEP/CFPF report on west coast FHP 


joint funding (tentative); Therese Thompson on leveraging funding from non-
traditional partners. 


 


 
3:30 – 4:00 Funding Break-outs:  Building upon existing partner collaborations and 


identifying new opportunities  
Regional Break-outs 


 
 
4:00 - 4:30  Habitat Assessments and Symposia Case Study Panel: Collaboration with the 


national level, across FHPs, and within FHPs   
Suggested Panel: Gary Whelan on status of 2015 assessment and a successful 
National-FHP collaboration example; Donovan Henry on Mid-west FHP Science 
collaboration; Steve Perry on Brook Trout status assessment, science symposium and 
LCC collaboration 


 
 
4:30 – 5:00 Science Break-outs:  Building upon existing collaborations and identifying new 


opportunities  


Regional Break-outs 
 
 
5:00 – 5:30  Break-Out Report Backs: priority topics for further discussion and next steps    


 
5:30 – 7:00  Break – refreshments; Social Gathering; Discussion of topics from summary  








  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 4b 


Title :   Partnership Committee Report 


 


Desired outcome:  Board awareness of the Partnership Committee’s 2014 accomplishments and 


to highlight the issues it will address in 2015. 


 


Background:  At the October 2013 Board Meeting, the Partnership Committee suggested that it 


should address the following issues in 2014: 


 


 Development of an approach that links FHP conservation priorities with the Board’s National 


Conservation Strategies; 


 Establishment of a process for estimating the costs for achieving FHP conservation priorities; 


 Assessment of the need to develop a standard business planning template for use by FHPs. 


 


2014 Accomplishments 


 


The Partnership Committee was relatively inactive during 2014 and so little headway was 


made in addressing the aforementioned issues.  However, in an effort to re-activate its operations 


by addressing workload issues, the Board took action during its June 2014 Meeting to increase 


the Committee’s leadership capacity by adding two Board members (Stan Allen and Mike Stone) 


to serve with Steve Perry (EBTJV Coordinator) as the Committee’s leadership team. 


Since June 2014, the Partnership Committee’s leadership team worked with Board staff 


to develop an agenda for the FHP Workshop that was held on November 2, 2014; updated the 


Committee’s membership roster; and, held one Partnership Committee conference call aimed at 


establishing priority issues to be addressed in 2015. 


 


Issues to be addressed in 2015 


 


Higher Priority 


 Development of an approach that demonstrates the linkages among FHP conservation 


priorities and the the Board’s National Conservation Strategies. 


 Development of a process for building consensus support among FHPs for funding proposals 


(e.g. MSCGP and other sources) submitted by the Board on their behalf. 


 Identification of redundancies between the Board's FHP Performance Evaluation criteria and 


the criteria the FWS uses to allocate NFHAP funds to FHPs  and provide guidance to the 


Board on ways to minimize overlap between the two processes. 


 


Lower Priority 


 Assessment of the need to develop a standard business planning template for use by FHPs. 







  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 4b 


 Establishment of a process for estimating the costs for achieving FHP conservation priorities. 


 








 
National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


November 5-6, 2014  
Tab 5a 


 


Title: Multi-State Conservation Grant Program Overview 


 


Desired outcome: Board awareness of the outcome of the 2015 Multi-State Conservation Grant Program 


(MSCGP) cycle and process for determining an approach to the Multi-State Grant Program in 2016 (and 


beyond).   


 


Background:  Through the Multi-State Conservation program, NFHP and the FHPs have received $490,617 


in 2013, $544,500 in 2014 (Science and Data and FHPs) and $521,600 (to be allocated in 2015).  The 2015 


Full proposal is included in the supplemental Board Book materials.  The 2015 grant cycle marks the final 


year of an originally envisioned 3-year time frame during which the FHPs and Board applied jointly for 


MSCGP funding.   


 


The Timeline for the 2016 Multi-State Conservation Grant Program is as follows: National Conservation 


Needs (NCN) solicitation through AFWA Committees (November 2014 – February 2015), NCN’s Selected 


in March by AFWA Grants Committee, Letters of Intent (LOI) (April 2015), LOIs selected for full proposal 


(June 2015).  


 


A joint Board Staff – Partnership Committee recommendation for an approach to the 2016 Multi-state Grant 


Program (and beyond) will be provided to the Board at the March meeting, after feedback from FHPs has 


been solicited and considered (workshop discussion and follow-up survey). 


 


Future Needs: It is anticipated that the NFHP Board and Committees will need operational funds in 2016 


through the MSCGP.   


 


Board Book Materials: 


2015 NFHP Multistate Conservation Grant Program Full Proposal 


2015 MSCGP Priority List of Projects 


 








15-011 
 
 


1 
 


2015 Multistate Conservation Grant Program 
 


Grant Proposal 
 


Executive Summary 
 
1. Project Title:  Promoting Strategic Fish Habitat Conservation through Regionally-


coordinated Science and Collaboration 
 


2. Full Legal Name of Organization: National Fish Habitat Board.  If awarded, the grant 
will be administered on behalf of the National Fish Habitat Board by the Association of 
Fish and Wildlife Agencies, 444 North Capitol Street NW, Washington DC, 20001 
 


3. Organization Information: 
a. Applicant Classification: Nongovernmental Organization 
b. Nongovernmental Organization Classification (if applicable): 501(c)(6) 


 
4. Lead Applicant’s Contact Information: 


Mr. Kelly Hepler, Assistant Commissioner, Alaska Department of Fish and Game and 
Chair, National Fish Habitat Board 
c/o Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies 
444 North Capitol Street NW, Suite 725 
Washington, DC  20001 
Email:  Kelly.hepler@alaska.gov 
Phone Number:  907-242-1907 


 
5. Name and Affiliation of Co-Investigator(s)/Partner(s) (if applicable): 


Gary Whelan, Michigan Department of Natural Resources 
Ryan Roberts, National Fish Habitat Board Communications Coordinator 


 
6. Project Length: 1 year.  This request builds on two prior one-year MSCG projects, 


funded in 2013 and 2014, to support Fish Habitat Partnership science and collaboration 
activities (see Funding Requested below). 
 


7. Funding Requested: 
a. Total Amount: $521,600 
b. Year 1 Amount: $521,600 
c. Year 2 Amount (if applicable): $ 
d. Year 3 Amount (if applicable): $ 


 
8. Estimate of Partnership Funds to be Leveraged (if applicable): $ 1,300,000 


 
9. Funding Source.  


a. Funding Source: 100% Sport Fish Restoration Fund 
 


10. State Benefit Requirement:  The outcomes of this project will benefit all 50 states 
through regional-based Fish Habitat Partnerships. 







15-011 
 
 


2 
 


 
11. Primary National Conservation Need (NCN) Addressed: NCN 4:  Strengthening the 


National Fish Habitat Partnership 
 
12. Summary Statement (200 words or less):   


Through regional collaboration, Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHP) will compile biological 
and process-level information on fish habitats to meet FHP science needs and supplement 
the national fish habitat assessment; establish new or improved strategic goals, 
objectives, and priorities for conserving fish species and habitats; expand the scope of 
engaged partners; and, promote best management practices for implementing habitat 
conservation actions.  Building capacity is critical to the success and sustainability of 
Fish Habitat Partnerships and expanding opportunities for collaboration is an essential 
element to meeting the goals and objectives set forth in the National Fish Habitat Action 
Plan (2nd Edition)..   


 
13. Terms and Conditions.  Use of MSCGP Grants - All applicants must ensure that 


their proposed project does not fund, in whole or in part, an activity that promotes or 
encourages opposition to the regulated hunting or trapping of wildlife or taking of sport 
fish.   
 
☒ I agree with the above terms and conditions. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







15-011 
 
 


3 
 


Project Narrative 
 
Title Promoting Strategic Fish Habitat Conservation through Regionally-coordinated Science 
and Collaboration 
 
Objective(s) Priority needs identified by Fish Habitat Partnerships vary across regions, and 
include improving hydrography data in Alaska and Hawaii and engaging landowners in the 
agricultural Midwest, and setting conservation priorities for aquatic habitats across the U.S.  This 
project will address these needs and build on the accomplishments made during the 2013 and 
2014 MSCGP Grants. 
 
Through regional collaboration, FHPs will:  


 Collectively advance habitat assessments through identification of mutual data needs, 
data acquisition and landscape-level analysis for the benefit of fish, mussels, and other 
aquatic animals. 


 Provide regional and system-specific fish population, habitat, and human impact data to 
fill data gaps and to assist the national Science & Data Committee in improving the 2015 
national fish habitat assessment.   


 Identify and promote best management practices for habitat conservation. 
 Develop and implement methods to effectively engage local communities in fish habitat 


conservation projects. 
 Improve strategic plans of individual FHPs. 
 Establish landscape-scale linkages among FHP priorities and those of other landscape 


conservation efforts. 
   
Problem Statement  
Conservation (protection, restoration and enhancement) of intact and degraded fish habitat across 
the nation is recognized as a critical issue for fish and natural resource managers and 
stakeholders.  Lost habitat undermines the health and productivity of aquatic systems and 
dependent fish populations and the socioeconomic benefits derived from these resources.  
Healthy fish habitat is essential to effectively sustaining our nation’s recreational, commercial, 
and subsistence fishery resources and providing benefits to the American public. 
 
In 2003 the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies took a leadership role in the development 
of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan, which was completed in 2006.  The 2nd edition of the 
plan (Action Plan) was published in 2012 with new objectives focused on meeting the needs and 
priorities for conserving fish habitat at a landscape scale, as well as   providing the over-arching 
principles that guide the collaborative efforts of the National Fish Habitat Partnership.  
 
The National Fish Habitat Board (Board) was established to administer the actions needed to 
carry out the Action Plan and support FHPs in implementing on the ground fish habitat 
conservation actions. The Board has identified the following operational roles for FHPs:   


 Assemble the scientific assessment data needed to conserve fish habitats within their 
partnership areas,  


 Establish strategic goals and objectives that define desired outcomes for fish species and 
habitats within their partnership areas,  







15-011 
 
 


4 
 


 Identify priority places and/or issues to focus conservation action, and prioritize fish 
habitat conservation projects to meet goals and objectives,  


 Coordinate and compile information on outputs (conservation actions) and outcomes 
(changes in habitat condition) for reporting to the Board and stakeholders, and 


 Collaborate with other FHPs where appropriate to carry out these responsibilities. 
 
This grant request is needed to supplement other state, federal and partner funds that are required 
to more fully support successful implementation of the Action Plan and further the priority work 
of the Fish Habitat Partnerships. 
 
State fish and wildlife agencies benefit through: 


 continued leadership on the National Fish Habitat Board; 
 increased collaboration between FHPs and state fish and wildlife agencies; 
 increased engagement with groups working to conserve fish habitat; 
 increased coordination on marine resource issues; 
 increased habitat available for fish and other aquatic organisms throughout the United 


States; and, 
 increased capabilities to build science and data capacity. 


 
Collaborative efforts are critical to ensuring that human and financial resources are used wisely 
and efficiently to effectively achieve conservation success.  The nineteen Board-recognized 
FHPs are committed to working collaboratively to fulfill their responsibilities, as evidenced by 
their demonstrated willingness to work collectively to increase their abilities to implement the 
Action Plan (2012 MSCG) and the regional collaboration that is occurring with operational 
responsibilities such as resources assessments (2013 MSCG) and building FHP capacity to 
achieve their conservation priorities (2014 MSCG).  However, to continue these collaborative 
efforts the FHPs need additional financial support to fully implement the objectives described in 
this grant proposal.  Additionally, collaboration among FHPs strengthens the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership by focusing on processes that bring partners together to advance strategic 
priorities regionally as well as nationally.  This approach to fish habitat conservation is a 
fundamental principle of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan.   
 
Experience 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership is a state-led effort to address the nation’s fish and aquatic 
habitat conservation needs.  The National Fish Habitat Board, organized in 2006, is responsible 
for developing policies and guidance for recognizing Fish Habitat Partnerships, and for 
establishing national measures of success and evaluation criteria for FHPs.  Since 2007, the 
Board has recognized 19 FHPs and in 2012 completed its first performance evaluation of FHPs.  
Kelly Hepler has chaired the Board since May 2008, and is supported by an interagency staff 
from state and federal agencies and the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies. 
 
The Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies provides significant services to NFHP and the 
Board and AFWA have been successful in receiving and administering a number of MSCGP 
Grants that have supported the National Fish Habitat Partnership. This grant request represents a 
continuation of that support. 
 







15-011 
 
 


5 
 


Approach 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership brings a focused and coordinated approach to protecting, 
restoring, and enhancing the nation’s fish habitats.  This proposal strengthens that approach by 
supporting robust collaboration among FHPs and other large-scale conservation organizations to 
achieve the NFHP’s national and regional priorities.   
 
This project supports activities of the Fish Habitat Partnerships that will assist in achieving four 
objectives in the 2nd Edition of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan:   


1. Achieve measurable habitat conservation results through strategic actions of Fish Habitat 
Partnerships that improve ecological condition, restore natural processes, or prevent the 
decline of intact and healthy systems leading to better fish habitat conditions and 
increased fishing opportunities. 


2. Broaden the community of support for fish habitat conservation by increasing fishing 
opportunities, fostering the participation of local communities – especially young people 
– in conservation activities, and raising public awareness of the role healthy fish habitats 
play in the quality of life and economic well-being of local communities. 


3. Fill gaps in the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its associated database to empower 
strategic conservation action supported by broadly available scientific information, and 
integrate socio-economic data in the analysis to improve people’s lives in a manner 
consistent with fish habitat conservation goals. 


4. Communicate the conservation outcomes produced collectively by Fish Habitat 
Partnerships, as well as new opportunities and voluntary approaches for conserving fish 
habitat, to the public and conservation partners. 


 
Based on our previous experience, the distribution of funds among FHPs within each region will 
be flexible to meet specific and evolving needs of the collaborating FHPs; the distribution of 
funds across regions is not expected to change from that shown in the budget table.  Regional 
sub-agreements will be structured around the five objectives of the Action Plan, and will identify 
specific tasks that will further the objectives.  Sub-awards will be made to the Fish Habitat 
Partnerships broken down by regions, with fiscal agents administering funds on behalf of FHPs.  
These fiscal agents are long-term managing partners for the FHPs and provide services to the 
FHPs under partnership agreements therefore no competition is required for these services. 
 
Expected Results or Benefits 
The project will achieve results compatible with desired outcomes identified in NCN #4.  All of 
the expected results build upon prior work of the FHPs, much of which was supported by 
MSCGP funds previously awarded.  Expected results and benefits include: 


 Enhanced regional aquatic habitat condition assessments and landscape-scale 
conservation design for coastal habitats on the Atlantic and Pacific coasts (including 
Hawaii), coldwater habitats in the Appalachians and interior west, and the southeastern 
United States through collaborative efforts of FHPs. 


 In three eastern FHPs, creation of an Aquatic Connectivity Assessment Program.   
 Across the U.S., facilitation of prioritized, on-the-ground, partner-led fish habitat 


conservation projects that achieve measurable results towards Action Plan goals and 
strategies. 







15-011 
 
 


6 
 


 Integrated use of habitat assessments to identify geographic focus areas and improve 
strategic prioritization of conservation actions and reporting of outcomes by FHPs across 
the United States. 


 Expansion of landowner engagement in four Midwestern states by establishing 
landowner committees, utilizing training provided to land conservation employees in 
2013.  Landowner committees help to prioritize projects, record monitoring data, and 
showcase measurable habitat/sport fish outcomes on farms and in communities. For four 
Midwest Fish Habitat Partnerships, improved utilization of fish habitat condition 
assessments completed in 2012 to identify spatially explicit focal areas in which to 
prioritize limited conservation resources, building upon the example of the Ohio River 
Basin FHP. This grant would improve the GIS data behind the habitat condition 
assessment and track monitoring data from NFHP and other fhp habitat projects.  An 
Angler economic impact survey for the Midwest will also be developed under this 
application.                 


 Building upon progress made on the Kenai Peninsula (Alaska) in 2013, application of 
advanced remote sensing information (LiDAR) to map stream networks in the Mat-Su 
Basin to standards of the National Hydrography Dataset (NHD). This effort will be 
enhanced by a recently funded Alaska LCC project to establish a statewide framework to 
incorporate and steward updated local and regional level hydrography data into an 
improved NHD for Alaska.  


 Through the Campaign for Western Native Trout (initiated in 2012), building and 
strengthening grassroots networks of support by communicating conservation needs and 
results using new and traditional media and events. 


 Production of a spatial framework that delineates key nursery habitats on the Pacific 
coast, overlaying existing datasets describing potential threats to habitats and the fish 
inhabiting them, and integrating these analyses to set priorities for restoration and 
protection.  This work builds upon results of a scoping “summit” held in 2013. 


 
Outcomes/Benefits 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership brings a focused and coordinated approach to protecting, 
restoring, and enhancing the nation’s aquatic habitats.  This proposal strengthens that approach 
by linking the oversight responsibility of the Board and the operational responsibility of the 
FHPs to achieve national and regional scientific and conservation goals.   
 
More specifically, the project will: 


 Enhance regional aquatic habitat condition assessments and landscape-scale conservation 
design for coastal habitats on the Atlantic and Pacific coasts (including Hawaii), 
coldwater habitats in the Appalachians and interior west, and the southeastern United 
States through cooperative efforts of FHPs. 


 Improve strategic prioritization of conservation actions and reporting of outcomes by 
FHPs across the United States. 


 In three eastern Fish Habitat Partnerships, initiate connectivity teams in participating FHP 
states and bring these teams together to initiate and develop working relationships. 
Collectively define and communicate the scientific basis of river restoration through 
connectivity improvement throughout the FHP regions.  Share, update and develop 







15-011 
 
 


7 
 


connectivity assessment tools and resources specific to FHP state needs.  Communicate 
among FHP state connectivity teams to support and build on past experiences. 


 Building on work to expand landowner engagement in four Midwestern states the 
Midwestern FHPs will be assembling a landowner engagement guide, beginning work on 
an angler economic impact study, updating websites, and conducting strategic habitat 
conservation/GIS analysis. 


 Building upon progress made on the Kenai Peninsula (Alaska) in 2013 and 2014, apply 
advanced remote sensing information (LiDAR) to map stream networks to standards of 
the National Hydrography Dataset (NHD). 


 Through the Reservoir FHP analyze data sets to gain a better understanding of how 
reservoirs interact with their catchment. These analyses will produce criteria and 
guidelines that reservoir managers can advocate when partnering with agencies 
responsible for managing catchments.  


 Support a West Coast-wide workshop to convene partners, share the results of work 
accomplished to date (which includes a West Coast-wide classification and inventory of 
databases, and collection and assimilation of fish and habitat datasets for the West Coast), 
and chart the course for next steps in achieving priority tasks associated with identifying 
and prioritizing juvenile fish habitat on the West Coast. 


 In California, the CA Fish Passage Forum will refine APASS Optimized Fish Passage 
Barrier Prioritization Tool. This will further improve habitat quality attributes, unknown 
barriers and cost criteria to enhance the utility and reliability of APASS barrier 
optimization and support maintenance and California’s fish Passage Assessment 
Database.  In addition, they may contract with counties to obtain cost information on 71 
fish passage projects in California. 


 
Certification Regarding Fishing/Hunting 
“By submitting this proposal, the organization’s primary contact and/or authorized representative 
identified in this grant application certifies that the (National Fish Habitat Partnership) (1) will 
not use the grant funds to fund, in whole or in part, any activity of the organization that promotes 
or encourages opposition to the regulated hunting or trapping of wildlife or the regulated taking 
of fish; and (2) that the grant funds will not be used, in whole or in part, for an activity, project, 
or program that promotes or encourages opposition to the regulated hunting and trapping of 
wildlife or the regulated taking of fish.” 
 
Certification Regarding Partnership Funds (if applicable) 
“By submitting this proposal, the organization’s primary contact and/or authorized representative 
identified in this grant application certifies that the (National Fish Habitat Partnership): 1) 
understands that partnership fund contributions are assessed in the Association’s review and 
selection of its priority list of MSCGP projects, but are not considered by the USFWS to be an 
official non-federal match/cost-share; 2) will provide the partnership funds identified in order to 
complete the proposed project; 3) understands that if the promised partnership funds are not 
provided, and there is not a sufficient explanation,  potential consequences could include a poor 
“quality assurance” evaluation by the National Grants Committee for the organization’s future 
MSCGP applications; the imposition of “special award conditions” on this proposed grant and/or 
future grants (pursuant to 43 CFR 12); and if the failure to provide partnership funds affects the 







15-011 
 
 


8 
 


scope/objective or deliverables or other terms and conditions of the grant, then the USFWS could 
take necessary enforcement and termination actions (pursuant to 43 CFR 12).” 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







15-011 
 
 


9 
 


Budget 
 
1. Funding Requested:  $521,600 


Amount Funded in 2013: $490,617 
Amount Funded in 2014: $344,500 (of a total NFHP project of $544,500) 


Expenses  2014 Total MSCGP 
Costs Only Region Fish Habitat Partnerships MSCPG P.F.* 


AFWA Personnel Costs $    6,000  $    6,000 
Eastern U.S. Atlantic Coastal FHP,  


Eastern Brook Trout Joint Venture,  
Southeast Aquatic Resources 
Partnership 


$150,000  $150,000 


Midwest U.S. Fishers & Farmers Partnership, 
Driftless Area Restoration Effort 


$  80,000  $  80,000 


U.S. Reservoir FHP $  75,000  $  75,000 
Pacific Coast Pacific Marine & Estuarine 


Partnership,  
California Fish Passage Forum 


$  85,000  $  85,000 


Alaska Kenai Peninsula FHP,  
Mat-Su Basin Salmon Habitat 
Partnership, 
Southwest Alaska Salmon Habitat 
Partnership, 
Southeast Alaska FHP 


$  70,000  $  70,000 


Hawaii Hawaii Fish Habitat Partnership $  30,000  $  30,000 
Total direct costs  $496,000  $490,500 
Indirect costs   $  25,600  $  25,600 
Total Expenses  $521,600  $521,600 
     


 
 
Budget by Cost Category 


Expenses 
2015 


Total MSCGP 
Costs Only MSCGP P.F.* 


  Personnel  $    5,000    $    5,000 


  Fringe (__%)  $    1,000    $    1,000 


  Travel       


  Supplies       


  Equipment       


  Contractual  $490,000   $490,000 


  Other        


Total Direct Costs $496,000  $496,000 


Indirect Costs (20%)  $    25,600   $   25,600 


Total Expenses   $521,600    $521,600 


 
* Estimate of Partnership Funds to be Leveraged: $ 1,300,000 
 







15-011 
 
 


10 
 


 
Qualifications of Key Personnel 


 
Kelly Hepler, Chairman, National Fish Habitat Board 
Kelly Hepler began working at the Alaska Department of Fish and Game in 1979 as a fisheries 
biologist and has held increasingly complex positions throughout his career.  Kelly served as 
director of the Division of Sport Fish and most recently as a special assistant for the previous 
commissioner.  He represents the department in numerous national forums and is presently chair 
of the National Fish Habitat Board.  Kelly holds a B.S. in Fish and Wildlife Management from 
Montana State University. 
 
Ryan Roberts, Communications Coordinator, National Fish Habitat Board 
Ryan Roberts is the Communications Coordinator for the National Fish Habitat Partnership.  Mr. 
Roberts has 8 years of experience in public relations/communications and has worked on the 
National Fish Habitat Partnership since 2008.  Mr. Roberts created several communications 
toolkits for use by National Fish Habitat Partnerships and created an overall communications 
strategy for the partnership.  Mr. Roberts’ contributions were key in the development and release 
of the Status of Fish Habitat Partnership 2010 Assessment and the 2nd Edition of the National 
Fish Habitat Action Plan (2012). 
 
Staff level leadership and management support of the work of the Board group will be provided 
by AFWA, USFWS, NOAA, state agencies and other partners such as NGO’s.      
 
National Fish Habitat Board Members August 2014 
http://fishhabitat.org/contacts/board 
 
 
 








2015 MSCGP Priority List of Projects


% %


Amount 


Requested


15-012 2 Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies Multistate Conservation Grant Program Coordination 1 yr 50% $43,560.00 50% $43,560.00
2015: $87,120                  


2016: $90,360               
$177,480.00 


15-010 10 Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies
State Fish and Wildlife Agency Administration and 


Coordination
1 yr 50% $149,160.00 50% $149,160.00 $298,320.50 


15-001 10 Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies
State Fish and Wildlife Agency Director Travel 


Administration and Coordination
1 yr 50% $64,075.00 50% $64,075.00 $128,150.00 


15-013 11
Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies 


(AFWA)


Coordination of Farm Bill Program Implementation to 


Optimize Fish and Wildlife Benefits to the States
1 yr 60% $124,500.00 40% $83,000.00


2015: $207,500               


2016: $187,000
$394,500.00 


15-034 1 Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies
Coordination of the Industry, Federal and State Agency 


Coalition
1 yr 50% $108,480.00 50% $108,480.00 $216,960.00 


15-008 7
Midwest Association of Fish and Wildlife 


Agencies (MAFWA), & Western Association of 


Fish and Wildlife Agencies (WAFWA)


Understanding Trends in Public Values toward Wildlife as a 


Key to Meeting Current and Future Wildlife Management 


Challenges


1 yr 50% $226,933.50 50% $226,933.50
2015: $453,867                 


2016: $401,035               
$854,902.00 


15-004 6 Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies 


Educating lawyers, law students, students of all ages, the 


judiciary and the general public on state fish and wildlife 


management:  Implementing AFWA’s 2013 – 2015 Strategic 


Plan Goal 2


1 yr 50% $100,000.00 50% $100,000.00 $200,000.00 


15-015 1 National Shooting Sports Foundation
Hunting, Fishing, and Sport Shooting Recruitment and 


Retention:  A Practitioner’s Guide
1 yr 50% $69,865.05 50% $69,865.05 $139,730.10 


15-019 9 Association of Fish & Wildlife Agencies


National Survey of Ownership and Use of Traps by Trappers 


in the United States and evaluation of the use and 


implementation of BMPs by state fish and wildlife agencies 


(with a focus on documenting changes since 2004)


2 yrs 100% $145,500.00 2015: $76,680                             $145,500.00 


15-011 4 National Fish Habitat Board
Promoting Strategic Fish Habitat Conservation through 


Regionally-coordinated Science and Collaboration 
1 yr 100% $521,600.00 $521,600.00 


15-018 1
Wildlife Management Institute, Inc. (WMI) and 


the Council to Advance Hunting and the Shooting 


Sports (Council) 


Development and Implementation of a National Initiative for 


Hunter and Shooting Sports Recruitment, Retention, and 


Reactivation


2 yrs 100% $207,900.00
2015: $115,500               


2016: $92,400
$207,900.00 


15-020 5
Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies 


(AFWA)


Improving the Conservation of Fish and Wildlife Populations 


and Habitats During Energy Exploration, Development and 


Transmission Through Enhanced Industry/Agency 


Coordination


1 yr 50% $58,125.00 50% $58,125.00
2015: $116,250                     


2016: $197,280      
$313,530.00 


15-005 1 American Sportfishing Association Boosting Fishing Participation by Boat Owners 1 yr 100% $60,000.00 $60,001.00 


15-026 9 Max McGraw Wildlife Foundation


Professional Development Workshops for effective 


communication and outreach regarding regulated trapping, 


established Best Management Practices, and furbearer 


management


2 yrs 100% $116,150.00
2015: $62,675                


2016: $53,475               
$116,150.00 


2015 TotalSFR / WFR Requested: $1,414,248.55 $1,484,798.55 $2,899,047.10


2015 Total SFR / WFR Available:  $1,554,849.00 $1,517,957.00 $3,072,806.00


Three Survey Projects Selected (2015-2018)


US Fish & Wildlife Service* Coordination of 2016 Survey Efforts 4 yrs 50% $123,437.00 50% $123,437.00 2015: $246,874 $246,874.00


Rockville Institute (Westat)*


50 State Surveys Related to Fishing, Hunting, and Wildlife - 


Associated Recreation 4 yrs
50% $279,822.00 50% $279,822.00 2015: $559,644 $559,644.00


US Census Bureau*


National-Level Results for the 2016 Survey of Fishing, 


Hunting, and Wildlife-Associated Recreation 4 yrs
50% $407,903.00 50% $407,903.00 2015: $815,806 $815,806.00


Total Cash Flow SFR/ WFR Requested (2015): $811,162.00 $811,162.00 $1,622,324.00


Total Cash Flow SFR / WFR Available (2015):  $2,362,724.50 $2,362,724.50 $4,725,449.00


WR SFR Requested 


Funding Per Year 


(if applicable)


Total Funding 


Requested
Amount 


Requested


Proposal 


#
NCN Applicant


Project Title


Length of 


Project







Projects highlighted in yellow will be awarded first year in 2015 cycle and the second project year in 2016 cycle


*Survey Projects awarded for four years - amount requested is shown only for 2015 cycle.  Information on four year total costs detailed in each Survey proposal


*Total Cash Flow available for 2015 represents the $2,981,851 and the remaining balance from the 2014 cash flow








 
National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


November 5-6, 2014   
Tab 6a 


 
Title: 501(c)(3) Development 


 


Desired outcome(s):   


 Board understanding of progress to date, next steps, and timeline regarding 501(c)(3) 


development.    


 Board action on recommended slate of Board of Directors.   


 


Background:  


Section 3. of the 501(c)(3) Bylaws ‘Nomination, Election and Term of Office’ state the following: 


Individuals will be recommended for positions on the Board of Directors of the Corporation 


by the non-federal members of the National Fish Habitat Board or its successor board. Upon 


recommendation, the Chair of the National Fish Habitat Board, who is a state agency 


representative, will seek at the National Fish Habitat Board’s regular fall meeting a majority 


vote of those non-federal members of the National Board to elect a slate of or individual 


candidates to the Board of Directors of the Corporation. 


On August 20, 2014 the non-Federal members of the National Fish Habitat Board were invited to 


recommend individuals to serve on the Fund BOD, via email. 


 


Briefing Book Materials: 


Bylaws of the National Fish Habitat Fund, Inc. 








 
BYLAWS 


 OF THE 
National Fish Habitat Fund, Inc. 


                                                                   
 ARTICLE I 
 OFFICE AND REGISTERED AGENT 
 
Section 1.  Principal Office.  The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in a place chosen by 
the Board of Directors. 
 
Section 2.  Registered Office and Agent.  The Corporation shall have and continuously maintain a 
registered office and a registered agent in the District of Columbia, as required by the District of Columbia 
Nonprofit Corporation Act.  The registered agent shall be either an individual resident of the District of 
Columbia or a corporation authorized to transact business in the District of Columbia.   
 
 
 ARTICLE II 
 PURPOSES 
 
The purposes for which the Corporation is formed are as set forth in the Articles of Incorporation.  
 
The mission of the Corporation is to conserve, protect, and restore fish and aquatic habitat in the United 
States by supporting the National Fish Habitat Partnership and regional Fish Habitat Partnerships.  In all 
activities and respects, the Corporation will advance the National Fish Habitat Partnership and the 
regional Fish Habitat Partnerships.  In no manner may the funds raised by the Corporation be used to 
support any organization that is not a member of the National Fish Habitat Partnership or a Fish Habitat 
Partnership approved by the National Fish Habitat Board. 
 
 ARTICLE III 
 MEMBERSHIP 


 
The Corporation shall have no members. 


 
 
 ARTICLE IV   
 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
Section 1.  Powers.  There shall be a Board of Directors of the Corporation, which shall supervise and 
control the business, property, and affairs of the Corporation, except as otherwise expressly provided by 
law, the Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation, or these Bylaws.  In the event of an emergency, the 
Board may assume emergency powers such as, but not limited to, modifying lines of succession, and 
relocating offices. 
 
Section 2.  Number and Qualifications.  The members of the initial Board of Directors of the Corporation 
shall be those individuals named in the Articles of Incorporation and shall serve until their successors are 
elected and qualified.  Thereafter, the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be composed of no less 
than eight and no more than 12 individuals.  The number of directors may be decreased, but no decrease 
shall have the effect of shortening the term of any incumbent director.  At least three members of the 
Board of Directors of the Corporation will be selected from the non-federal membership of the National 
Fish Habitat Board. 


 
Section 3.  Nomination, Election and Term of Office.  Individuals will be recommended for positions on the 
Board of Directors of the Corporation by the non-federal members of the National Fish Habitat Board or 
its successor board.  Upon recommendation, the Chair of the National Fish Habitat Board, who is a state 
agency representative, will seek at the National Fish Habitat Board’s regular fall meeting a majority vote 


1 
 







 
of those non-federal members of the National Board to elect a slate of or individual candidates to the 
Board of Directors of the Corporation.   
 
Directors will take office on the first day of the month following their election or upon the regular expiration 
of the term for that position, whichever is earlier. 
 
At the time of his or her election, each director shall be assigned to Class A, Class B, or Class C, and an 
effort shall be made to keep each class of directors of approximately equal size.   Each director shall hold 
office for a term of three years, except that for the Board elected at the organizational meeting in 2014: 


a. Directors in Class A shall have their term expire in 2015 and every three years thereafter;  
b. Directors in Class B shall have their term expire in 2016 and every three years thereafter; and 
c. Directors in Class C shall have their term expire in 2017 and every three years thereafter. 


 
No director shall serve more than two consecutive terms nor more than four terms total. 


 
Section 4.  Resignation.  Any director may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chairman of 
the Board.   Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if no time is specified, at 
the time of acceptance thereof as determined by the Chairman of the Board. 
 
Section 5.  Removal.  Any director may be removed from such office, with or without cause, by a two-
thirds vote of all of the directors then in office at any regular or special meeting of the Board called 
expressly for that purpose.   
 
Section 6.   Vacancies.  The Chair of the National Fish Habitat Board shall nominate a candidate to fill 
any vacancy.  A nomination will be reviewed by the National Fish Habitat Board, whose non-federal 
members shall elect a new director by majority vote at their next scheduled meeting or via email if the 
next meeting is more than four weeks away.  A new director will take office immediately upon approval 
and shall serve until the regular expiration of the term for that position.   
 
Section 7.  Regular Meetings.  A regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall 
be held each year, at such time, day and place as shall be designated by the Board of Directors. 
 
Section 8.  Special Meetings.  Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at the direction of 
the Chair or by a majority of the voting directors then in office, to be held at such time, day, and place as 
shall be designated in the notice of the meeting. 
 
Section 9.  Notice.  Notice of the time, day, and place of any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be 
given at least 14 days previous to the meeting and in the manner set forth in Section 2 of Article VII.  The 
purpose for which a special meeting is called shall be stated in the notice.  Any director may waive notice 
of any meeting by a written statement executed either before or after the meeting.  Attendance and 
participation at a meeting without objection to notice shall also constitute a waiver of notice. 
Section 10.  Quorum.  A majority of the directors then in office shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. 
 
Section 11.  Manner of Acting.  Except as otherwise expressly required by law, the Articles of 
Incorporation of the Corporation, or these Bylaws, the affirmative vote of a majority of the directors 
present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Directors.  Each 
director shall have one vote.  Voting by proxy shall not be permitted. 
 
Section 12.  Unanimous Written Consent In Lieu of a Meeting.  The Board may take action without a 
meeting if written consent to the action is signed by all of the directors. 


  
Section 13.  Telephone Meeting.  Any one or more directors may participate in a meeting of the Board of 
Directors by means of a conference telephone or similar telecommunications device, which allows all 


2 
 







 
persons participating in the meeting to hear each other.  Participation by telephone shall be equivalent to 
presence in person at the meeting for purposes of determining if a quorum is present. 


 
ARTICLE V 


 OFFICERS 
 
Section 1.  Officers.  The officers of the Corporation shall minimally consist of a Chair, a Vice Chair, a 
Secretary, and a Treasurer.  The Corporation shall have such other assistant officers as the Board of 
Directors may deem necessary and such officers shall have the authority prescribed by the Board.  One 
person shall not hold two offices.  
 
Section 2.  Election of Officers.  The officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the directors at the 
annual meeting of the Board of Directors. 
 
Section 3.  Term of Office.  The officers of the Corporation shall be installed at the annual meeting at 
which they are elected and shall hold office for two years until the next annual meeting or until their 
respective successors have been duly elected. 
 
Section 4.  Resignation.  Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chair of the 
Board.  Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified in the notice, or if no time is specified, then 
immediately.   
 
Section 5.  Removal.  Any officer may be removed from such office, with or without cause, by two-thirds 
vote of all of the directors then in office at any regular or special meeting of the Board called expressly for 
that purpose.   
 
Section 6.  Vacancies.  A vacancy in any office shall be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired 
term. 
 
Section 7.  Chair. The Chair shall give active direction and exercise oversight pertaining to all affairs of 
the Corporation.  He or she may sign contracts or other instruments, which the Board of Directors has 
authorized to be executed, and shall perform all duties incident to the office of Chair as may be 
prescribed by the Board of Directors. 
 
Section 8.  Vice Chair.  The Vice Chair shall preside over meetings of the Corporation in the absence of 
the Chair.  In addition, the Vice Chair shall exercise the powers of the Chair if the Chair is unable to 
perform his or her activities for any period of time. 
 
Section 9.  Secretary.  The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors; 
see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these Bylaws, ensure staff 
members keep corporate records; and in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and 
such other duties as may be assigned by the Board of Directors. 
 
Section 10.  Treasurer.  The Treasurer shall be responsible for and oversee all financial matters of the 
Corporation.  The Treasurer shall ensure staff members properly receive and give receipts for moneys 
due and payable to the Corporation and deposit all such moneys in the name of the Corporation in 
appropriate banks, and in general perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other 
duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors. 
 
Section 10.  Bonding.  If requested by the Board of Directors, any person entrusted with the handling of 
funds or valuable property of the Corporation shall furnish, at the expense of the Corporation, a fidelity 
bond approved by the Board of Directors. 


 


3 
 







 
ARTICLE VI 


COMMITTEES 
 
Section 1.  Standing Committees.  The Board of Directors, by resolution adopted by a majority of the 
directors then in office may designate and appoint one or more standing committees, including but not 
limited to a finance committee and a nominations committee, each consisting of two or more directors, 
which committees shall have and exercise the authority of the Board of Directors in the governance of the 
Corporation.  However, no committee shall have the authority to amend or repeal these Bylaws, elect or 
remove any officer or director, adopt a plan of merger, or authorize the voluntary dissolution of the 
Corporation.  
 
Section 2.  Executive Committee.  Between meetings of the Board of Directors, on-going oversight of the 
affairs of the Corporation may be conducted by an Executive Committee, the membership of which shall 
be the officers of the Board of Directors and the President/Chief Executive Officer. 
 
Section 3.  Other Committees and Task Forces.  The Board of Directors may create and appoint 
members to such other committees and task forces as they shall deem appropriate.  Such committees 
and task forces shall have the power and duties designated by the Board of Directors, and shall give 
advice and make non-binding recommendations to the Board, and shall be limited to the term established 
by the Board and then dissolved or renewed. 
 
Section 4.  Term of Office.  Each member of a committee shall serve until a successor is appointed, 
unless the committee is sooner dissolved.   
 
Section 5.  Vacancies.  Vacancies in the membership of committees may be filled by the Chair of the 
Board.   


 
Section 6.  Rules.  Each committee and task force may adopt rules for its meetings not inconsistent with 
these Bylaws or with any rules adopted by the Board of Directors. 
 
 


ARTICLE VII 
MEETINGS 


 
Section 1.  Annual Meeting.  The organization shall hold an annual meeting of the Corporation to be held 
at the time and place designated by the Board, to be designated no later than three (3) months prior to 
the date of the meeting.  Written notice specifying the time, date, and place of the annual meeting shall be 
given to each Board member by the secretary no later than two (2) months prior to the opening of said 
annual meeting.  The agenda of the annual meeting shall be prepared by the Executive Committee for the 
approval of the board. 
 
Section 2.  Board Meetings.  Board meetings of the Corporation shall be called at such time and place as 
the board may select.  The secretary shall give thirty (30) days written notice of any Board meeting to 
each Board member.  Board meetings may be held in conjunction with the Annual Meeting of the 
Corporation. 


ARTICLE VIII 
PRESIDENT/CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 


 
Subject to the control of the Board and any supervisory powers the Board may give to the chairman of the 
Board, the president/chief executive officer shall have general supervision, direction, and control of the 
business and affairs of the Corporation including the Corporation’s staff, and shall see that all orders and 
resolutions of the Board are carried into effect. The president/chief executive officer shall also perform all 
duties incidental to this office that may be required by law and all such other duties as are properly 
required of this office by the Board.  The president/CEO shall have such other powers and perform such 


4 
 







 
other duties as from time to time may be prescribed for him or her by the Board, these bylaws, or the 
chairman of the Board.  


 
 


ARTICLE IX 
CHAPTERS 


 
Section 1.  Regional Fish Habitat Partnerships.  Any regional Fish Habitat Partnership (FHP) approved by 
the National Fish Habitat Board, may request recognition by the Corporation as a “chapter” of the 
Corporation.  Recognition as a chapter is in addition to recognition as an FHP, and as such nothing in this 
article is intended to conflict with the responsibilities of the National Fish Habitat Board or with the roles 
and responsibilities of an FHP. 


a. Any FHP requesting recognition from the Corporation as a chapter of the Corporation must 
comply with policies and procedures established by the Board, including entering into the 
standard Memorandum of Understanding with the Corporation. 


a. A representative from each FHP recognized as a chapter will serve as a liaison to the 
Corporation.  Liaisons will provide an annual report to the Corporation, provide copies of all 
meeting minutes and resolutions, and be responsible for ensuring communications between FHP 
and the Corporation. 


 
Section 2.  Financial and Other Services.  The Corporation will establish policies and procedures to 
provide financial and other services required by chapters, including but not limited to: 


a. accounting and fiscal management including the establishment of restricted and unrestricted 
accounts; 


b. banking and investment services; 
c. insurance; and 
d. auditing. 


 
Section 3.  Powers, Duties, Responsibilities.  FHPs hold all such powers, duties, and responsibilities as 
required to carry out the activities envisioned in their strategic plans that are not specifically reserved for 
the Corporation.  Fundraising by FHPs should be coordinated with the Corporation and shall not conflict 
with the fundraising efforts of the Corporation.  Each FHP may determine if it will be a membership 
organization, and if so, will determine the composition of its membership in consultation with the 
Corporation.  Each FHP shall have at least two (2) meetings each fiscal year.  No FHP shall be or hold 
itself out to be an agent of the Corporation.   
 
Section 4.  Standing.  For a FHP to be in good standing as a chapter, it must support the purposes of the 
Corporation, meet requirements set out by these Bylaws and the policies and procedures of the 
Corporation, meet all financial obligations, file reports promptly, and participate in the annual meeting of 
the Corporation. 
 
Section 5.  Probation, Suspension, Revocation, or Dissolution.   


a. A chapter may be placed on probation with the Corporation by the Board of Directors for failure to 
comply with these Bylaws and established policies and procedures of the Corporation. The board 
will notify the chapter leadership in writing that the chapter is on probation.  The chapter will have 
two months to meet the necessary requirements and be removed from probationary status.  
Failure to comply will result in suspension. 


b. The activities of a chapter may be suspended by the Board of Directors of the Corporation for 
failure to comply with these Bylaws and established Policies and Procedures of the Corporation. 


c. A chapter’s status may be withdrawn by a majority vote of the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation. 


d. A FHP may choose to drop its chapter status. 
e. If an FHP drops or loses its chapter status, all cash and other assets remaining after the payment 


of all debts shall be paid to an appropriate private nonprofit organization recommended by the 
leadership of the FHP and approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. 


5 
 







 
 
Section 6.  Reactivation and Reinstatement of a Chapter.  A FHP may be reactivated as a chapter 
following suspension by three-fourths (3/4) vote of the Board.  A FHP which loses its status as a chapter 
or drops itself from chapter status may be reinstated by meeting any requirements the Board establishes 
for a newly organizing chapter. 
 


ARTICLE X 
 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 
Section 1.  Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be October 1 through September 30. 
 
Section 2.  Notice.  Whenever under the provisions of these Bylaws notice is required to be given to a 
director, officer, or committee member, such notice shall be given in writing by first-class mail or overnight 
delivery service with postage prepaid to such person at his or her address as it appears on the records of 
the Corporation.  Such notice shall be deemed to have been given when deposited in the mail or the 
delivery service.  Notice may also be given by electronic mail, or hand delivery, and will be deemed given 
when received. 
 
 ARTICLE XI 
 INDEMNIFICATION 
 
Unless otherwise prohibited by law, the Corporation shall indemnify any director or officer or any former 
director or officer, and may by resolution of the Board of Directors indemnify any employee, against any 
and all expenses and liabilities incurred by him or her in connection with any claim, action, suit, or 
proceeding to which he or she is made a party by reason of being a director, officer, or employee.  
However, there shall be no indemnification in relation to matters as to which he or she shall be adjudged 
to be guilty of a criminal offense or liable to the Corporation for damages arising out of his or her own 
gross negligence in the performance of a duty to the Corporation. 
 
Amounts paid in indemnification of expenses and liabilities may include, but shall not be limited to, 
counsel fees and other fees; costs and disbursements; and judgments, fines, and penalties against, and 
amounts paid in settlement by, such director, officer, or employee.  The Corporation may advance 
expenses or, where appropriate, may itself undertake the defense of any director, officer, or employee.  
However, such director, officer, or employee shall repay such expenses if it should be ultimately 
determined that he or she is not entitled to indemnification under this Article. 
 
The Board of Directors shall authorize the purchase of insurance on behalf of any director, officer, 
employee, or other agent against any liability incurred by her/her which arises out of such person's status 
as a director, officer, employee, or agent, whether or not the Corporation would have the power to 
indemnify the person against that liability under law. 


 
ARTICLE XII 


AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS 
 
These Bylaws may be amended or new Bylaws adopted upon the affirmative vote of two-thirds of all the 
directors then in office at any regular or special meeting of the Board with the consent of the non-federal 
members of National Fish Habitat Board or its successor organization.  The notice of the meeting shall 
set forth a summary of the proposed amendments. 
 
 


ARTICLE XIII 
PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY 


 
The rules contained in Roberts' Rules of Order Newly Revised shall govern all meetings in all cases in 
which they are not inconsistent or in conflict with these Bylaws. 


6 
 







 
ARTICLE XIV 
DISSOLUTION 


 
Upon the dissolution of the Corporation, the Board of Directors, after paying or making provision for the 
payment of all of the liabilities of the Corporation, shall dispose of all of the remaining assets of the 
Corporation exclusively to conserve, protect, and restore fish and aquatic habitat in the United States 
through the National Fish Habitat Partnership in such manner, or to such organization or organizations as 
shall at the time qualify as a tax-exempt organization or organizations recognized under Section 501(c)(3) 
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the corresponding provision of any future United 
States internal revenue statute, as the board shall determine. 


7 
 





		ARTICLE VI

		COMMITTEES






 
National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


November 5-6, 2014   
Tab 7a 


 
Title: Fish Habitat Partnership Performance Evaluation 


 


Desired outcome(s): Board action on 2015 approach 


 


Background: In July 2012, the National Fish Habitat Board voted to begin the first formal 


performance evaluation of Fish Habitat Partnerships in January 2015, covering a 3-year period 


(2012-2014), and to repeat this process every 3 years thereafter.  According to the process approved 


in February 2013, each Fish Habitat Partnership will submit a completed performance evaluation 


form by April 1, 2015.  The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service initiated a new method for allocating 


NFHAP project funding.  Implementation of the new methodology began in January 2014 and is 


executed annually to determine the amount of project funding each FHP will receive to support 


partnership operations and on-the-ground habitat conservation projects.  


 


The Partnership Committee has identified the following as a 2015 priority: Identification of 


redundancies between the Board's FHP Performance Evaluation criteria and the criteria the FWS 


uses to allocate NFHAP funds to FHPs and provide guidance to the Board on ways to minimize 


overlap between the two processes.   


 


 


Briefing Book Materials: 


Fish Habitat Partnership Performance Evaluation 








 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


1 
 


Evaluating Fish Habitat Partnership Performance  


 


 
Introduction 
 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership is an unprecedented effort to build and support 


partnerships that are strategically focused on fish habitat conservation. The National Fish Habitat 
Action Plan (Action Plan) guides this initiative and establishes processes for bringing partners 
together, challenging them to collaboratively advance strategic priorities, as well as measure and 
report on the outcomes of their conservation actions. The geographic scope and focus on fish 


habitat conservation distinguishes the National Fish Habitat Partnership from other more local 
fish habitat initiatives. 
 
To uphold the high standards set by the Action Plan, the National Fish Habitat Board (Board) 


adopted a set of ten measures aimed at evaluating Fish Habitat Partnership performance levels 
for core operational functions (i.e., coordination, scientific assessment, strategic planning, data 
management, project administration, communications, and outreach).   At its July 2012 meeting, 
the Board voted to begin the first “formal” performance evaluation of Fish Habitat Partnerships 


in January 2015, covering a 3-year period (2012-2014), and to repeat this process every 3 years 
thereafter. 
 
Performance Evaluation Process 


 
Each Fish Habitat Partnership will submit a completed performance evaluation form by April 1, 
2015.  A Board-appointed team will assess each partnership’s responses to the ten measures and 
rate their level of performance using a scale of 1 (low) to 4 (high).  The performance evaluation 


outcomes will be sent to each Fish Habitat Partnership for their review and response prior to 
being finalized by the team. 
 
Performance measures 1–5 are focused on fish habitat conservation projects, which are defined 


as (a) approved actions taken for the conservation or management of aquatic habitat for fish and 
other aquatic organisms; (b) the provision of technical assistance to states, Indian tribes, or local 
communities to facilitate the development of strategies and priorities for aquatic habitat 
conservation; and, (c) the obtaining of real property interest in lands or waters, including water 


rights, if the obtaining of such interest is subject to terms and conditions that will ensure the real 
property will be administered for the long-term conservation of such lands and waters and the 
fish dependent thereon.  Real property interest means any ownership interest in lands or a 
building or an object that is permanently affixed to land. 


 
Performance Evaluation Form Instructions 
 
Please provide a complete description of the information requested for each performance 


measure as the review team will rely on your responses when assessing your partnership’s level 
of performance.  The time period that is being covered by this performance evaluation is 
calendar years 2012-2014. 







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


2 
 


 


Fish Habitat Performance Evaluation Form 


 
1. For calendar years 2012-2014, list the title of each of your partnership’s fish habitat 


conservation projects that: 
 


a. Used National Fish Habitat Action Plan (NFHAP) funding sources (e.g., US Fish & 
Wildlife Service); or, 


b. Your partnership developed and were funded by non-NFHAP sources; or, 
c. Were neither funded by NFHAP sources nor developed by your partnership, but were 


formerly endorsed by your partnership. 
 
For each project listed, identify the project type (a, b, or c) as well as the specific FHP and/or 
national conservation priority (i.e., geographic focus areas, habitat types, key stressors or 


impairments) the project addresses.  
 


The following information should be provided for each Fish Habitat Conservation Project: 
 


o Year that the project was funded or endorsed 
 
o Project title 
 


o Project type 
 


o Project location 
 


o FHP conservation priority being addressed along with a narrative that details how it is 
being addressed by the project  


 
o National conservation priority being addressed along with a narrative that details how it 


is being addressed by the project 
 


o Why the project was endorsed by your FHP (if applicable) 
 


The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 
performance for this measure. 
 
a. Less than 70% of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly focused on addressing FHP 


and/or national conservation priorities (1 point). 
b. 70% to 79% of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly focused on addressing FHP 


and/or national conservation priorities (2 points). 
c. 80% to 89% of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly focused on addressing FHP 


and/or national conservation priorities (3 points). 
d. 90% or more of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly focused on addressing FHP 


and/or national conservation priorities (4 points).  







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


3 
 


 
 


2. Describe the effectiveness measures that are being used to track short- and long-term 
progress toward achieving the expected conservation outcomes* for each fish habitat 
conservation project listed under Performance Measure 1.  (*Outcomes represent “a desired 
future state” while outputs are “immediate project products.”  Providing fish in a stream 


unimpeded access to spawning habitat is a conservation outcome, whereas removing a 
manmade barrier is a project output.) 


 
The following information should be provided for each Fish Habitat Conservation Project: 


 
o Project title 
 
o Expected conservation outcome 


 
o Effectiveness measure being used to track short-term progress 


 
o Effectiveness measure being used to track long-term progress 


 
 
 
The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 


performance for this measure. 
 


a. Less than 70% of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly used effectiveness measures 
(1 point).  


b. 70% to 79% of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly used effectiveness measures (2 
points).  


c. 80% to 89% of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly used effectiveness measures (3 
points).  


d. 90% or more of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly used effectiveness measures (4 
points). 


 







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


4 
 


 
3. Describe vulnerable fish habitat being protected or the causes of and processes influencing 


fish habitat decline that are being addressed by each fish habitat conservation project listed 
under Performance Measure 1. 


 
The following information should be provided for each Fish Habitat Conservation Project: 


 
o Project title 
 
o Vulnerable fish habitat being protected 


 
o Causes of and processes influencing fish habitat decline being addressed 


 
 


 
The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 
performance for this measure. 


 


a. Less than 70% of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly focus on protecting vulnerable 
fish habitats or addressing the causes/processes behind its decline (1 point).  


b. 70% to 79% of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly focus on protecting vulnerable 
fish habitats or addressing the causes/processes behind its decline (2 points).  


c. 80% to 89% of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly focus on protecting vulnerable 
fish habitats or addressing the causes/processes behind its decline (3 points).  


d. 90% or more of the fish habitat conservation projects clearly focus on protecting vulnerable 
fish habitats or addressing the causes/processes behind its decline (4 points).  







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


5 
 


 
 


4. For the fish habitat conservation projects listed under Performance Measure 1, what is the 
amount of NFHAP funds (i.e., US Fish and Wildlife Service NFHAP funds) allocated in 
support of these projects, and what is the total amount of funding from all other sources? 


 


The following information should be provided for each Fish Habitat Conservation Project: 
 
o Project title 
 


o Amount of NFHAP funds supporting the project 
 


o Amount of other federal funds supporting the project 
 


o Amount of non-federal funds supporting the project 
 


o If pertinent, also include a description of how funding the project assisted with generating 
additional sources of non-NFHAP funding that is being targeted towards your 


partnership’s priorities. For example, using NFHAP funds for a fish habitat conservation 
project that subsequently lead to a new funding source devoted to addressing one or more 
of your priorities. 


 


The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 
performance for this measure. 
 


a. In aggregate, non-NFHAP funding (including the value of new sources of funding that were 


generated by the project) for these fish habitat conservation projects was less than NFHAP 
funding (1 point).  


b. In aggregate, non-NFHAP funding (including the value of new sources of funding that were 
generated by the project) for these fish habitat conservation projects was equal to or up to 1.5 


times higher than NFHAP funding (2 points).  
c. In aggregate, non-NFHAP funding (including the value of new sources of funding that were 


generated by the project) for these fish habitat conservation projects was more than 1.5 and 
up to 2.0 times higher than NFHAP (3 points).  


d. In aggregate, non-NFHAP funding (including the value of new sources of funding that were 
generated by the project) for these fish habitat conservation projects was more than 2.0 times 
higher than NFHAP funding (4 points).  


 







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


6 
 


 
 


5. Please provide a copy of the criteria your partnership uses to prioritize fish habitat 
conservation projects for funding. 


 
 


 
The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 
performance for this measure. 
 


a. Less than 70% of the Board’s minimum benchmark set of criteria are being used by the 
partnership to prioritize fish habitat conservation projects for funding (1 point).  


b. 70% to 79% of the Board’s minimum benchmark set of criteria are being used by the 
partnership to prioritize fish habitat conservation projects for funding (2 points).  


c. 80% to 89% of the Board’s minimum benchmark set of criteria are being used by the 
partnership to prioritize fish habitat conservation projects for funding (3 points).  


d. 90% or more of the Board’s minimum benchmark set of criteria are being used by the 
partnership to prioritize fish habitat conservation projects for funding (4 points).  







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


7 
 


 
 


6. Describe the ways your partnership has engaged with neighboring/overlapping Fish Habitat 
Partnerships and/or other regional natural resource conservation entities during the past three 
years (2012-2014) and what these engagements produced for outcomes (e.g. reduced 
redundancy, enhanced message delivery or access to a larger outreach audience, greater 


geographic coverage). 
 


The following information should be included in your response: 
 


o Name of the Fish Habitat Partnership/regional natural resource conservation entity 
engaged. 


 
o Type of engagement activity or activities (building awareness, coordination, 


collaboration) that occurred with each Fish Habitat Partnership/regional natural resource 
conservation entity. 


 
o The outcome achieved by each engagement activity. 


 
 
 
The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 


performance for this measure and the score will be cumulative, with each type of outcome (a-d) 
listed below being worth 1 point.  The maximum number of 4 points will be assigned if a Fish 
Habitat Partnership has achieved outcomes for all four criteria. 
 


a. The engagement outcomes with neighboring/overlapping FHPs and/or other regional natural 
resource conservation entities improved the capacity for building awareness (1 point).  


b. The engagement outcomes with neighboring/overlapping FHPs and/or other regional natural 
resource conservation entities improved the coordination of mutually beneficial activities (1 


point).  
c. The engagement outcomes with neighboring/overlapping FHPs and/or other regional natural 


resource conservation entities included generating collaboration that improved the delivery of 
a conservation action (1 point). 


d. The engagement outcomes with neighboring/overlapping FHPs and/or other regional natural 
resource conservation entities increased the geographic scale of a conservation action (1 
point). 







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


8 
 


 
 


7. Describe how your partnership uses resource condition assessment and/or analysis results to 
determine your conservation priorities and to identify the actions they require. 


 
The following information should be included in your response: 


 
o Title of the resource condition assessment(s) and/or analysis(es) used by your partnership 


along with the date(s) it (they) were completed. 
 


o A listing of the conservation priorities, and the actions they require, determined by the 
resource condition assessment and/or analysis results. 


 
 


 
The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 
performance for this measure. 
 


a. The partnership has not used resource condition assessment and/or analysis results to assist 
with determining their conservation priorities and identifying the actions they require (1 
point). 


b. The partnership has used resource condition assessment and/or analysis results to assist with 


either determining their conservation priorities or identifying the actions they require (2 
points). 


c. The partnership has used resource condition assessment and/or analysis results to assist with 
determining both their conservation priorities and identifying the actions they require (3 


points). 
d. The partnership has further refined their conservation priorities and/or the actions they 


require through newly acquired resource condition assessment and/or analysis results (4 
points). 







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


9 
 


 
 


8. Describe your partnership’s outreach activities aimed at: 1) sharing information about your 
strategic priorities (i.e., geographic focus areas, habitat types, key stressors or impairments); 
2) building broader visibility among local and regional partners; 3) tailoring events to garner 
media coverage; and 4) strengthening relationships with policy-makers. 


 
 
 
The Performance Review Team will use the outreach categories listed below to guide its 


assessment of performance for this measure. Fish Habitat Partnerships whose activities includes 
only one of these categories will receive 1 point; use of two categories will receive 2 points; use 
of three categories will receive 3 points; and, use of all four categories will receive 4 points. 
 


a. The partnership’s outreach activities were limited to information sharing. 
b. The partnership’s outreach activities included building broader visibility among local and 


regional partners. 
c. The partnership’s outreach activities included events to garner media coverage. 


d. The partnership’s outreach activities included strengthening relationships with policy-
makers. 







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


10 
 


 
 


9. Describe the ways your partnership coordinated its aquatic resource data and regional 
assessment information with the NFHP Science and Data Committee during the past 3 years 
(2012-2014). 


 


The following information/documents should be included in your response: 
 
o The regional data sets and/or conservation outcomes you provided for integration into the 


NFHP National Assessment. 


 
o Documents your partnership produced that provide details about the effectiveness of the 


conservation outcomes supported by your partnership. 
 


 
 
The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 
performance for this measure. 


 
a. The partnership’s efforts to facilitate information exchange with the NFHP Science and Data 


Committee were minimal (1 point). 
b. The partnership facilitated information exchange with the NFHP Science and Data 


Committee by providing either regional data sets or conservation outcomes for integration 
into the NFHP National Assessment (2 points). 


c. The partnership facilitated information exchange with the NFHP Science and Data 
Committee by providing regional data sets and conservation outcomes for integration into the 


NFHP National Assessment (3 points). 
d. The partnership facilitated information exchange with the NFHP Science and Data 


Committee by providing regional data sets and conservation outcomes for integration into the 
NFHP National Assessment, and produced documents that provide details about the 


effectiveness of the conservation actions supported by the partnership (4 points). 







 Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board 


  February 26-27, 2013 
  Tab7b 


11 
 


 
 


10.  List your partnership’s conservation priorities (i.e., geographic focus areas, habitat types, key 
stressors or impairments) and describe the progress that has been made toward achieving 
these priorities during the past 3 years (2012-2014).   


 


The following information should be included in your response: 
 
o Separate listings for short-term and long-term conservation priorities. 


 


o Target dates for achieving each conservation priority. 
 


o Current status of achieving each conservation priority by its target date (i.e. ahead of 
schedule, on schedule, behind schedule). 


 
o Efforts underway within the partnership that are focused on addressing each conservation 


priority. 
 


 
 
The Performance Review Team will use the criteria listed below to guide its assessment of 
performance for this measure. 


 
a. Less than 50% of the partnership’s conservation priorities are on track for achievement by 


their target dates (1 point). 
b. 50% to 69% of the partnership’s conservation priorities are on track for achievement by their 


target dates (2 points). 
c. 70% to 89% of the partnership’s conservation priorities are on track for achievement by their 


target dates (3 points). 
d. 90% or more of the partnership’s conservation priorities are on track for achievement by their 


target dates (4 points). 
 
 








      National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


                                       October 5-6, 2014 


                                                           Tab 8a 


 1 


 


Title :   2015 Draft Board Priorities 


 


Desired outcome:  Board action to approve its priority tasks for 2015 and assignment of 


these priorities to the appropriate Committee for task completion. 


 


Background:  Board Committees have proposed a number of tasks that address different 


components of the Second Edition of the Action Plan’s objectives as potential Board 


priorities for 2015.  These proposed priority tasks have been bundled under the respective 


Action Plan Objective, to bring more clarity to what the Committees are proposing. 


 


Recommendation: Consider the proposed priority tasks for 2015 and Committee 


assignments as presented below, for approval in January 2015. 


 


Proposed Priority Tasks and Committee Assignments 


Action Plan Objective 1:  Achieve measurable habitat conservation results through strategic 
actions of Fish Habitat Partnerships that improve ecological condition, restore natural 
processes, or prevent the decline of intact and healthy systems leading to better fish habitat 
conditions and increased fishing opportunities. 


Priority Task A: Development of a process for building consensus support among FHPs for 


funding proposals (e.g. MSCGP and other sources) submitted by the Board on their behalf; 


(assign to Board staff and Partnership Committee) 


Priority Task B: Identification of redundancies between the Board's FHP Performance 
Evaluation criteria and the criteria the FWS uses to allocate NFHAP funds to FHPs  and 


provide guidance to the Board on ways to minimize overlap between the two processes; 
(assign to Board staff and Partnership Committee) 
 
Priority Task C: Continue development of a 501(c)(3) Board of Directors and policies to be 


used as a financial tool by the National Fish Habitat Board and FHPs; (assign to Board staff 
and leadership) 


 


Priority Task D: Continue development of standard effectiveness measures for conservation 


actions used to address nationwide fish habitat focus areas; (assign to Science and Data 


Committee) 
 


Action Plan Objective 2:  Establish a consensus set of national conservation strategies as a 


framework to guide future actions and investment by the Fish Habitat Partnerships by 2013. 
 







      National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


                                       October 5-6, 2014 


                                                           Tab 8a 


 2 


Priority Task E: Objective achieved.  Next step: Develop an approach that demonstrates the 
linkages among FHP conservation priorities and the Board’s National Conservation 
Strategies; (assign to the Partnership Committee) 


 


  
Action Plan Objective 3:  Broaden the community of support for fish habitat conservation 
by increasing fishing opportunities, fostering the participation of local communities – 
especially young people – in conservation activities, and raising public awareness of the role 


healthy fish habitats play in the quality of life and economic well-being of local 
communities. 
 
Priority Task F: Continue building database for newsletter distribution to increase 


engagement with partner coalition; and continue to utilize AFWA to increase engagement 
with State Fish and Wildlife Agencies; (assign to the Communications Committee) 
 
Priority Task G: Continue development of the NFHP Marketing Campaign and re-branding 


efforts for the NFHP program and the FHPs; and re-develop the website in order to raise 
greater public awareness of the role healthy fish habitats play in quality of life and economic 
well-being, in order build a broader community of support for fish habitat conservation; 
(assign to the Communications Committee and marketing team) 


 
 
Priority Task H: Establish a regular schedule of meetings for the communications committee 
and work to include more FHP members on the committee; Review and make any needed 


changes to the communications strategy (Board approved 2011 and updated in 2013) to 
ensure that it remains a guide for committee work and maintained as a living document. 
(assign to the Communications Committee and marketing team) 
 


 
Action Plan Objective 4:  Fill gaps in the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its 
associated database to empower strategic conservation action supported by broadly available 
scientific information, and integrate socio-economic data in the analysis to improve people’s 


lives in a manner consistent with fish habitat conservation goals. 


 


Priority Task I: Examine and review National Assessment products produced by Marine and 


Inland Assessment Teams along with activities underway by the Fish Habitat Partnerships 


and Landscape Conservation Cooperatives (LCCs); (assign to the Science and Data 


Committee) 


 


Priority Task J: Develop coordinated delivery of the 2015 assessment, including adding new 


online capabilities to help partners and stakeholders understand and best use the new 


National Assessment data and products; (assign to the Science and Data Committee) 







      National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


                                       October 5-6, 2014 


                                                           Tab 8a 


 3 


 


Priority Task K: Continue to catalog science data products and assessments completed and 


underway within each of the established Fish Habitat Partnerships and the national 


assessment team via the NFHP Data System.  (assign to the Science and Data Committee) 


 


Priority Task L: Refine and update fisheries, aquatic nuisance and invasive species, dam 


inventory, land conservation status, and water quality status information as data become 


available; (assign to the Inland Team of the Science and Data Committee) 


 


Priority Task M: Improve river fragmentation analyses and national calculation of 


fragmentation metrics and develop lakesheds and lake assessments; (assign to the Science 


and Data Committee) 


 


Priority Task N: Evaluate approaches to improve hydrology and temperature incorporation 


and to refine the marine-inland linkages between the inland and marine assessments; (assign 


to the Science and Data Committee) 


 


Priority Task O: Complete a full assessment of estuaries in the northern Gulf of Mexico; 


continue data collection, processing, and initial analysis for West Coast estuaries; (assign to 


the Marine Team of the Science and Data Committee) 


 


Priority Task P: Conduct Science and Data Outreach to FHPs, LCCs, Board, and other key 


audiences; (assign to the Science and Data Committee) 


 


Priority Task Q: Seek funding sources that will provide the funds needed to accomplish the 


following National Assessment activities; (assign to Board Staff and 501(c)(3) 


o Continue to develop selected socioeconomic data and analyses to support decision 


making by the Board and FHPs  - $35,000 


o Develop new science and data products from existing and new FHP assessment databases 


to further support FHP habitat analysis and the 2015 National Assessment - $70,000 
o Strengthen the science foundation of the National Assessment by determining the best 


approaches for incorporating data on connectivity, hydrology and marine fish and 
shellfish - $400,000 


o Refine the National Assessment by initiating the filling analytical gaps on connectivity, 


hydrology and in the marine assessment – $370,000 
o Develop standardized effectiveness measurements for FHPs’ connectivity projects which 


will include developing new methods to incorporate fine-scale system process 
information from FHP projects - $383,500 







      National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


                                       October 5-6, 2014 


                                                           Tab 8a 


 4 


o Fully develop and attributing of detailed socioeconomic data and analyses on the same 
geospatial scale as habitat assessment - $100,000 


 
Action Plan Objective 5:  Communicate the conservation outcomes produced collectively 


by Fish Habitat Partnerships as well as new opportunities and voluntary approaches for 
conserving fish habitat to the public and conservation partners. 
 
 


Priority Task R: Increase usage of video and further campaign to document work of Fish 
Habitat Partnerships; (assign to the Communications Committee) 
 
Priority Task S: Broaden the visibility of the 10 Waters to Watch Campaign as a means to 


tell the story and increase awareness of FHP efforts to conserve fish habitat; (assign to the 
Communications Committee)  
 


 








National Fish Habitat Board
DRAFT 2015 Budget


REVENUES


AFWA/FWS 
Coop (2102)


MSCG 
Operations 3 - 


(2154A)


MSCG - FHP 
Coordination 


(2154B)


MSCG - FHP 
Coordination 


(2155)


AFWA State 
Funds (8010)


NFWF State 
Funds TOTAL


Program Income 128,000$           100,000$           228,467$           -$                   -$                   456,467$           
Carryover 75,000$             65,000$             521,600$           4,879$               28,930$             695,409$           
SUBTOTAL 203,000$           165,000$           228,467$           521,600$           4,879$               28,930$             1,151,876$        


EXPENSES
Coordination of Board and FHPs
Salaries and Benefits (10,000)$            (6,000)$              (16,000)$            
Travel - BoD (16,000)$            (16,000)$            
Travel - Staff (9,500)$              (9,500)$              
Supplies -$                   
Contractual to FHPs (225,000)$          (490,000)$          (715,000)$          
Consultants (Effectiveness Measures) -$                   
FHP Org Development Needs -$                   
SUBTOTAL (25,500)$            (10,000)$            (225,000)$          (496,000)$          -$                   -$                   (756,500)$          
Communications
Website (12,256)$            (12,256)$            
Salaries and Benefits (10,000)$            (82,420)$            (92,420)$            
Awards (3,000)$              (3,000)$              
Annual Report (2,500)$              (2,500)$              
Communications Products -$                   
Telephone -$                   
Travel - Staff General (5,000)$              (5,000)$              
Travel - Program: Expand Grassroots Outreach (4,000)$              (4,000)$              
Contractual (6,000)$              (6,000)$              
SUBTOTAL (36,756)$            (88,420)$            -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   (125,176)$          
Science & Data -$                    
Science Assistance to FHPs -$                   -$                   
MSU Assessment -$                   
NFHP Science and Data Committee Workshop (20,000)$            (20,000)$            
Socioeconomic Data Needs -$                   
Travel (12,000)$            (12,000)$            
SUBTOTAL (32,000)$            -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   -$                   (32,000)$            
TOTAL DIRECT (94,256)$            (98,420)$            (225,000)$          (496,000)$          -$                   -$                   (913,676)$          


-$                   -$                   -$                   
IDC (9,426)$              (9,842)$              (3,467)$              (25,600)$            -$                   -$                   (48,335)$            
TOTAL INDIRECT (9,426)$              (9,842)$              (3,467)$              (25,600)$            -$                   -$                   (48,335)$            
NET 99,318$             56,738$             -$                   -$                   4,879$               28,930$             189,866$           


Done Done







National Fish Habitat Board
DRAFT 2015 Budget


B1Cell:
Matt Menashes:Comment:
Need new Cooperative Agreement for 2013-2017


E1Cell:
Matt Menashes:Comment:
Third year funding for three year project awarded to AFWA for FHP needs.


B9Cell:
rroberts:Comment:
8 Board member trips at $2000 ea.


B10Cell:
rroberts:Comment:
Roberts, Menashes and Regan to BoD.


D12Cell:
rroberts:Comment:
carryforward from 2014


E12Cell:
rroberts:Comment:
Expected Allocation in 2015


B14Cell:
Matt Menashes:Comment:
These three lines will support an FHP meeting in conjunction with RAE/TCS


B17Cell:
rroberts:Comment:
website development $10000


DJ Case $2256 Jan 2015


B19Cell:
rroberts:Comment:
NFHP Award Estimate for Travel and physical awards


B20Cell:
rroberts:Comment:
$500 over 2014 cost


C25Cell:
rroberts:Comment:
Will include any board meeting room contracts, etc. 


B32Cell:
rroberts:Comment:
12k Whelan







National Fish Habitat Board
DRAFT 2015 Budget 












                              National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 8c 
 


 
Draft 2015 Board Budget 


 
This document provides some information to help relate expenses presented in the 2015 draft 
budget to (1) the National Fish Habitat Action Plan, 2nd Edition and to (2) board and committee 
priorities.   Specific budget notes are provided to help clarify spending plans. 
 


 
Relationship of Budget to 2nd Edition Action Plan 
Objective 1.  Achieve measurable habitat conservation results through strategic actions of Fish 
Habitat Partnerships that improve ecological condition, restore natural processes, or prevent 
the decline of intact and healthy systems leading to better fish habitat conditions and increased 
fishing opportunities. 


 
Activity: 2014 Multi-State Conservation Grant (2154) 
Funding:  $281,738 ($56,738 – S&D), ($225,000 - FHP) 
Lead Committee or Partner:  AFWA 
This funding will be used to support specific deliverables from FHPs for both 
conservation (Objectives 1 and 2) and science and data (Objective 4) needs.  AFWA will 
sub-award funds to five regional organizations to support projects conducted by 11 
FHPs.  Project funding will be targeted in regional breakdowns as indicated in the Multi-
State Conservation Grant 


 
Activity: 2015 Multi-State Conservation Grant (2155) 
Funding:  $490,000 (FHP) 
This funding will be used to support specific deliverables from FHPs for both 
conservation (Objectives 1 and 2) and science and data (Objective 4) needs.  AFWA will 
sub-award funds to five regional organizations to support projects conducted by 11 
FHPs.  Project funding will be targeted in regional breakdowns as indicated in the Multi-
State Conservation Grant 
 
 


 
Objective 2.  Establish a consensus set of national conservation strategies as a framework to 
guide future actions and investment by FHPs by 2013. 


  







 


 


Objective 3.  Broaden the community of support for fish habitat conservation by increasing 
fishing opportunities, fostering the participation of local communities—especially young 
people—in conservation activities, and raising public awareness of the role healthy fish habitats 
play in the quality of life and economic well-being of local communities. 


Activity:  Communications 
Funding:  $128,000 
Lead Committee or Partner:  AFWA 
This objective is anticipated to be a continued emphasis for the Communications 
Coordinator in 2013.  He will continue to focus on increasing the size of the Partner 
Coalition, the Partnership’s grassroots network.  It is anticipated that Ryan will continue 
to attend events with the express purpose of soliciting new members for the Partner 
Coalition; improve the management and maintenance of the Partner Coalition database; 
increase the level of communications to the Partner Coalition; further the Partnerships 
social media efforts; and increase the use of video in grassroots network development.  
This focus area will also include Communications Coordinator work on the Partnership’s 
awards program.  Other communications needs included are: 


 NFHP annual report 
 media outreach 


 NFHP Awards 
 website hosting, re-development 


 NFHP Marketing Campaign Development 
 Development for FHP project videos 


 
 


Objective 4.  Fill gaps in the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its associated database to 
empower strategic conservation action supported by broadly available scientific information, 
and integrate socio-economic data in the analysis to improve people’s lives in a manner 
consistent with fish habitat conservation goals. 


Activity: Continue to refine and update fisheries, aquatic nuisance and invasive species, 
dam inventory, land conservation status, and water quality status (focusing on 
potentially using Section 303d listings and NPDES violation data) information as data 
become available. Improved river fragmentation analyses and national calculation of 
fragmentation metrics will be completed.  Demonstration project areas will be identified 
with interested Partnerships.  Approaches to refine the marine-inland linkages between 
the inland and marine assessments will be evaluated. 
 


Activity: The Science and Data Committee will examine and review National Assessment 


products produced by Marine and Inland Assessment Teams along with activities 


underway by the Fish Habitat Partnerships and Landscape Conservation Cooperatives 


(LCCs). 


Resources:  $20,000 to support a single Science and Data Committee meeting to focus 


on the products from the 2015 National Fish Habitat Assessment along with FHPs and 


LCCs Assessment efforts. This task was not conducted in FY2014 as products were not 


mature enough to warrant a face-to-face meeting review of products and this will be the 


case in FY2015. 


 Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee 







 


 


Activity: Develop coordinated delivery of the 2015 assessment, including adding new 


online capabilities following Science and Data Committee direction to help partners and 


stakeholders understand and best use the new National Assessment data and products.   


Resources: $135,000 to support applications developer team, metadata specialist, 


infrastructure maintenance and support – in-kind from USGS for FY2015. 


 Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee  


 


Activity: Continue to catalogue science data products and assessments completed and 


underway within each of the established Fish Habitat Partnerships and the national 


assessment team via the NFHP Data System.  Dedicated data management workflow 


strategies following the NFHP Data Standard Operating Procedures will be implemented 


to ensure data access, understanding, and re-use currently and in the future. 


Resources: $34,000 to provide dedicated data management support to catalog FHP data 


– in-kind from USGS for FY2015. 


Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee 


 


Activity: Continue development of standard effectiveness measures for conservation 


actions used to address nationwide fish habitat focus areas. 


   Resources:  Resources needs will be fully assessed in FY2015. 


 Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee 


 


Activity: The inland assessment will refine and update fisheries, aquatic nuisance and 


invasive species, dam inventory, land conservation status, and water quality status 


information as data become available. Improved river fragmentation analyses and 


national calculation of fragmentation metrics will be completed.  Development of 


lakesheds and lake assessments will begin.  Demonstration project areas will be 


identified and implemented with interested Partnerships. Approaches to improve 


hydrology and temperature incorporation and to refine the marine-inland linkages 


between the inland and marine assessments will be evaluated. 


Resources: $151,000 to continue core development of the Inland Assessment – USFWS 


funds. 


Resources Needed: $42, 300 to support data management activities for inland 


assessment team 


Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee 


 


Activity: Complete a full assessment of estuaries in the northern Gulf of Mexico, 


building on the results of the recently concluded demonstration project in the region to 


develop the new marine assessment methodology. Continue data collection, processing, 


and initial analysis for West Coast estuaries. Begin data collection and processing to 


support additional regional estuarine assessments starting in the Pacific Northwest, 







 


 


including datasets on fish/shellfish abundance and diversity, physical habitat, 


anthropogenic stress, and biological response.   


 


When resources become available, refine the existing marine geospatial framework for 


estuaries in the contiguous United States and complete initial development of a 


geospatial framework for all estuaries across Alaska.  Explore methodologies to improve 


linkages between the inland and marine components of the National Assessment.  


Resources:   $180,000 in funding and staff support from NOAA Fisheries is anticipated in 


FY15 to support ongoing activities. Many portions of the marine assessment effort 


remain unfunded and the products for 2015 will be incomplete due to resource 


constraints.  


Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee 


 


Activity: Science and Data Committee outreach efforts will: ensure coordination of 


assessment and data actions among all interested entities including FHPs and LCCs; 


inform Board and key audiences of the direction and products of the National Fish 


Habitat Assessment and its integral data system; and seek new resources and 


partnerships from appropriate entities and groups to increase efficiency and the quality 


of the National Fish Habitat Assessment. 


Resources: $12,000 to support state agency Science and Data Committee Co-Chair 


travel for six trips @ $2,000 each to include 2 NFHP Board meetings, 2 AFWA meetings 


and 2 other trips to be determined by opportunities. 


Lead Committee or Partner:  Science and Data Committee 
 


Objective 5.  Communicate the conservation outcomes produced collectively by Fish Habitat 
Partnerships, as well as new opportunities and voluntary approaches for conserving fish habitat, 
to the public and conservation partners. 


Activity:  10 Waters to Watch.  This program is our principal public outreach campaign 
and is designed to call attention to the work of the FHPs and the NFHP.  We will be 
building upon earlier efforts to increase attention to the list; expand media 
opportunities for FHPs; and generate additional awareness of the NFHP.  
Funding:  $4,000 
Lead Committee or Partner:  Communications Committee 







 


 


Key Areas without known resources for FY2015 (Science and Data): 


 


o Continue to develop selected socioeconomic data and analyses to support decision making 


by the Board and FHPs.  This work will focus on continuing and expanding the currently 


funded work to attribute and incorporate appropriate socioeconomic data into the existing 


Board Data System. 
Resources: $35,000 to support specialist work to acquire and integrate socioeconomic data 
into the Board Data System with the development of a limited set of appropriate analytical 
tools for the proper analysis of these data by FHPs and Board.   Fully developing and 
attributing of detailed socioeconomic data and analyses on the same geospatial scale as 
habitat assessment to improve conservation planning abilities of the Board and FHPs will 
require $100,000 in contractual services. 


 


o Develop new science and data products from existing and new Fish Habitat Partnership 


assessment databases to further support FHP habitat analysis and the Board’s 2015 National 


Fish Habitat Assessment.  Key FHP datasets will be identified by the Science and Data 


Committee and these data along with appropriate analytical tools will be integrated into the 


Board’s Data System for wider inter-FHP habitat assessment efforts. 


Resources: $70,000 to support additional GIS specialist time to integrate FHP datasets and 


develop associated analytical tools. 
 


o Strengthening the science foundation of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Board’s 
National Assessment by determining the best approaches for incorporating data on 
connectivity, hydrology and marine fish and shellfish.  These were all gaps in the Assessment 
that were consistently identified by reviewers and FHPs.  
Resources Needed: $400,000 for 2.0 FTEs and workshops to fully develop.  


 
o Refinement of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Board’s National Assessment  by 


initiating the filling analytical gaps on connectivity, hydrology and in the marine assessment 
identified by National Fish Habitat Board (Board) and Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHPs) in the 
2010 National Fish Habitat Assessment (Assessment). 
Resources Needed: $150,000 for 2.0 FTEs to fill key gaps in the Marine Assessment to be 
combined with matching resources from NOAA- Fisheries. 
 


o Completion of the marine assessment for all coastal waters of the U.S.  
Resources Needed:  Total resources needed to complete this task need to be fully assessed 
and determined in FY2015. 


 
o Strengthening the science foundation of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Board’s 


National Assessment by developing standardized effectiveness measurements for FHPs’ 
connectivity projects which will include developing new methods to incorporate fine-scale 
system process information from FHP projects.  This task was requested by the Board. 
Resources Needed: $383,500 for 2.0 FTEs to develop standardized connectivity 
effectiveness measures.  







 


 


 
o Development and attribution of detailed socioeconomic data and analyses on the same 


geospatial scale as habitat assessment to improve conservation planning abilities of the 
Board and FHPs.  This information was requested for inclusion into the Assessment by the 
Board. 
Resources Needed:  $77,000 to contract for the acquisition and attribution of  
socioeconomic data. 


 


 


Key Areas without known resources for FY2015 (Marketing): 


o Continued development of NFHP Marketing Campaign with Fishpond, D & I – Denver, CO.  


Provide additional deliverables for use by the FHPs.   


Resources Needed:  $80,000 - $90,000 based on original contract deliverables.   


 


 


 


Budget Notes 


 
Note 1. Budget Accounts. 
The NFHP Board’s budget includes a series of “accounts” as listed below.  The accounts that are 
numbered (e.g. 2100) are held by AFWA and the numbers are internal to AFWA’s accounting 
system.  
 


1. AFWA/FWS Cooperative Agreement (2102).  This cooperative agreement has generally 
been funded at $135,000. The 2102 Agreement funds science travel and salary and 
salary and travel for Communications Coordinator. Carryover from prior years is 
anticipated to be $75,000. 


 
2. Multi-state Conservation Grant – FHP Coordination.  The remaining funds in this grant 


are (2154 A – Science and Data) (2154 B – FHP Coordination) 
 


3. AFWA State Funds.  This account includes funds received from state fish and wildlife 
agencies either paid directly to AFWA or through draws from the National Fish and 
Wildlife Foundation (NFWF). 
 


4. NFWF State Funds.  This account is a “holding” account for the NFHP Board and includes 
funds received from state fish and wildlife agencies 


 








  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 9a 


 


Title :   Science and Data Committee Report for FY2014 


 


Desired outcome:  An informational briefing to the Board on the Science and Data Committee’s 


2014 work plan outcomes and Board concurrence for the Science and Data Committee’s 


proposed priority tasks it will address in 2015.  The briefing will include a preliminary FY2015 


Board funding request for those tasks and an identification of external funding needs. 


 


Priorities and Outcomes :  At the October 2013 Meeting, the Board approved Science and Data 


Committee priorities for 2014 and the Committee have been implementing these tasks as 


follows: 


 


1. Revitalize the Science and Data Committee membership to include more expertise in coastal 


and marine and lake habitats and scientific data management to ensure the Committee can 


meet the Board’s needs. 


a. Status – Committee has been revitalized and is now meeting using GotoMeeting on a 


monthly basis to assist the Assessment Teams and conduct other business.  The current 


committee roster includes additional marine, lake and FHP representation and is provided 


in Attachment 1. 


 


2. The Science and Data Committee will examine and review current Assessment activities 


underway by the Fish Habitat Partnerships, Landscape Conservation Cooperatives (LCCs), 


and the National Assessment Teams. 


a. Status – This project has been put on hold to provide more time to assist Assessment 


Teams with key analysis and approach issues.  This task will be continued in the FY2015 


workplan. 


 


3. Refine mechanisms and document procedures to guide Fish Habitat Partnerships and partners 


in data management practices to improve data and information exchange that will facilitate 


collaborative science and data efforts across the National Fish Habitat Partnership. Continue 


to catalog data products developed by Fish Habitat Partnerships via the NFHP Data System.  


Refine developed workflow strategies to allow implementation of best practices in data 


management including data curation and preservation tasks to ensure data access and re-use 


in the future. 


a. Status - The Science and Data Committee completed the “National Fish Habitat 


Partnership Data Standard Operating Procedures for Partners” 


http://ecosystems.usgs.gov/fishhabitat/resources.jsp that provides step-by-step written 


guidance to Fish Habitat Partnerships and other partners providing data to the NFHP Data 



http://ecosystems.usgs.gov/fishhabitat/resources.jsp





  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 9a 


System.  By housing the well-documented authoritative datasets in the NFHP Data 


System, partners and stakeholders will always know where to access the most up-to-date 


NFHP data for current and future use.  Refinement of the data management system will 


be a continuing task. 


 


4. Continue development of standard effectiveness measures for conservation actions used to 


address nationwide fish habitat focus areas. 


a. Status - A pilot effort was conducted by a subgroup of the Science and Data Committee 


to investigate the potential use of existing project effectiveness tools to develop project-


scale effectiveness measures for the National Fish Habitat Partnership.  The goal of the 


project was to begin developing standard effectiveness measures for common actions 


taken in support of fish habitat conservation. 


 


5. The inland assessment will refine and update fisheries, aquatic nuisance and invasive species, 


dam inventory, land conservation status, and water quality status information as data become 


available. Improved river fragmentation analyses and national calculation of fragmentation 


metrics will be completed.  Development of lakesheds and lake assessments will begin.  


Demonstration project areas will be identified and implemented with interested Partnerships. 


Approaches to improve hydrology and temperature incorporation and to refine the marine-


inland linkages between the inland and marine assessments will be evaluated. 


a. Status – Refinement and improvement of the 2010 Assessment continues on schedule 


following the 2015 National Fish Habitat Assessment Strategy as approved by the Board 


in July 2012.  The assessment will continue to use NHD+V1 for the Lower 48 states and 


potentially HI 2015 Assessments but will move to the higher resolution NHD+V2 for the 


2020 Assessment.  This refinement could not be implemented in 2015 as this would 


require too much effort to process this change for 2015 Assessment.  The AK assessment 


will use a combination of available spatial frameworks to include HUC12 and 


synthesized watersheds with NHD+ to be available for the 2020 Assessment. 


 


The 2015 Lower 48 Assessment will use: 7 variables (3 urban land use, impervious 


surface, 2 agriculture, and road density) summarized at network, local catchment and 


90m buffer resolutions, 6 variables (road crossings, fragmentation, mines, toxic release 


sites, NPDES sites, and USEPA Superfund sites) summarized at the network and local 


catchment resolutions; and 2 variables (water withdrawal and nutrients) at the network 


resolution.  The number of fish collection locations has been doubled for this assessment.  


Analyses will be conducted on functional groups of fish and on game fish using step and 


hockey stick threshold methods for different sizes of rivers.  Data attribution should be 


complete in October with final analyses done in November.  Score generation should be 







  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 9a 


completed in March.  Work is also in progress on Index of Change from the 2010 to 2015 


National Assessment scores. 


 


The AK assessment will use HUC 12 spatial scales for most of the state except for 


Southeast AK where local and network watersheds have been developed.  The 


assessment will use 5 urban population, two agricultural, two barrier, 2 point source, 3 


infrastructure, 1 landing strips/airports, and 1 mine variable with new information 


developed for population, dam, and road density.  Additional variables have been added 


for Southeast AK to include forest harvest, logging road density and culverts.  Available 


fish information for the entire state has been acquired and will be used to develop stress 


and condition analyses depending on data quality.  All data attribution will be complete 


in October.  Analyses will be completed by December with score generation in March. 


 


The HI Assessment that is being done in conjunction with the HI FHP will use the 


available NHD+ spatial framework and updated fish information for all stream reaches.  


Similar variables to the 2010 Assessment will be used with refinements and updated 


information for selected variables.  Data attribution will be complete in October.  


Analyses will be completed by December with score generation in March.  River scores 


and their effect on nearshore habitats and potentially estuaries will be evaluated this 


fall/winter. 


 


The lake assessment component planning is in progress and a strategy for fully 


integrating this information along with the reservoir assessment will be included in the 


Assessment Report.  It is expected that these assessment products will be issued as a 


subsequent supplement to the 2015 Assessment because of resource limitations at this 


time. 


 


6. Refine the existing marine geospatial framework for estuaries in the contiguous United States 


and complete initial development of a geospatial framework for all estuaries across Alaska. A 


pilot project, illustrating the proposed new fish stressor methodology and regional assessment 


approach, will be completed for estuaries in the Gulf of Mexico, including methodological 


refinements as necessary. Begin data collection and processing to support additional regional 


estuarine assessments starting in the Pacific Northwest, including datasets on fish/shellfish 


abundance and diversity, physical habitat, anthropogenic stress, and biological response. 


Explore methodologies to improve linkages between the inland and marine components of 


the National Assessment. 


a. Status - Refinement and improvement of the 2010 Assessment continues generally on 


schedule following the 2015 National Fish Habitat Assessment Strategy as approved by 







  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 9a 


the Board in July 2012 within limitations imposed by resource limitations.  A 


demonstration project using new greatly improved spatial framework and assessment 


methodology has been completed for the Gulf Coast that includes a range of new 


variables and fish and shellfish data.  The assessment methodology emulates the inland 


assessment so results will be similar in approach and interpretation.  A full assessment for 


the Gulf Coast has been initiated.  Currently, the West Coast of the Lower 48 states is in 


progress and all available information will be included in the 2015 Assessment Report.  


The Atlantic Coast Assessment is in initial stages and is being led by the NALCC and 


ACFHP.  Work has not progressed for either AK or HI marine assessments. 


 


The Great Lakes assessment being led by the University of Michigan (Catherine Riseng) 


and many other collaborators using funding from the Great Lakes Fishery Trust and the 


Great Lakes Basin FHP is progressing.  A spatial framework that integrates information 


for the U.S. and Canada is now complete and was a very difficult task.  Currently, habitat 


classification and integration of river inputs is in progress with fisheries information and 


inland habitat scores attribution to follow.  A report on the progress of this assessment 


will be included in the 2015 National Assessment. 


 


7. Science and Data Committee outreach efforts will: ensure coordination of assessment and 


data actions among all interested entities including FHPs and LCCs; inform Board and key 


audiences of the direction and products of the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its 


integral data system; and seek new resources and partnerships from appropriate entities and 


groups to increase efficiency and the quality of the National Fish Habitat Assessment. 


a. Status - Completed a demonstration data system mechanism that incorporates locations 


where monitoring is being conducted in the Pacific Northwest so that the west coast 


FHPs can increase or facilitate their interactions with existing monitoring programs.  The 


increased information delivered in this Northwest focus area can be used to demonstrate 


effective leveraging and to potentially gain momentum to mobilize similar information in 


other areas of the country for the benefit of more FHPs. 


 


8. Develop new science and data products from existing and new Fish Habitat Partnership 


assessment databases to further support FHP habitat analysis and the Board’s 2015 National 


Fish Habitat Assessment.  Key FHP datasets will be identified by the Science and Data 


Committee and these data along with appropriate analytical tools will be integrated into the 


Board’s Data System for wider inter-FHP habitat assessment efforts. 


a. Status – This project has been put on hold to provide more time to assist Assessment 


Teams with key analysis and approach issues.  This task will be continued in the FY2015 


workplan. 







  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 9a 


 


9. Continue to develop selected socioeconomic data and analyses to support decision making by 


the Board and FHPs.  This work will focus on continuing and expanding the currently funded 


work to attribute and incorporate appropriate socioeconomic data into the existing Board 


Data System. 


a. Status – No progress was made on this task as funding was unavailable to provide needed 


experience and resources.  This task will be included in the FY2015 workplan and 


resources sought to implement it. 


  


Draft Science and Data Priorities for FY2015: 


 


o The Science and Data Committee will examine and review National Assessment products 


produced by Marine and Inland Assessment Teams along with activities underway by the 


Fish Habitat Partnerships and Landscape Conservation Cooperatives (LCCs). 


Resources:  $20,000 to support a single Science and Data Committee meeting to focus on the 


products from the 2015 National Fish Habitat Assessment along with FHPs and LCCs 


Assessment efforts. This task was not conducted in FY2014 as products were not mature 


enough to warrant a face-to-face meeting review of products and this will be the case in 


FY2015. 


 


o Develop coordinated delivery of the 2015 assessment, including adding new online 


capabilities following Science and Data Committee direction to help partners and 


stakeholders understand and best use the new National Assessment data and products.   


Resources: $135,000 to support applications developer team, metadata specialist, 


infrastructure maintenance and support – in-kind from USGS for FY2015. 


 


o Continue to catalogue science data products and assessments completed and underway within 


each of the established Fish Habitat Partnerships and the national assessment team via the 


NFHP Data System.  Dedicated data management workflow strategies following the NFHP 


Data Standard Operating Procedures will be implemented to ensure data access, 


understanding, and re-use currently and in the future. 


Resources: $34,000 to provide dedicated data management support to catalog FHP data – in-


kind from USGS for FY2015. 


 


o Continue development of standard effectiveness measures for conservation actions used to 


address nationwide fish habitat focus areas. 


      Resources:  Resources needs will be fully assessed in FY2015. 


 







  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 9a 


o The inland assessment will refine and update fisheries, aquatic nuisance and invasive species, 


dam inventory, land conservation status, and water quality status information as data become 


available. Improved river fragmentation analyses and national calculation of fragmentation 


metrics will be completed.  Development of lakesheds and lake assessments will begin.  


Demonstration project areas will be identified and implemented with interested Partnerships. 


Approaches to improve hydrology and temperature incorporation and to refine the marine-


inland linkages between the inland and marine assessments will be evaluated. 


Resources: $151,000 to continue core development of the Inland Assessment – USFWS 


funds. 


Resources Needed: $42, 300 to support data management activities for inland assessment 


team 


 


o Complete a full assessment of estuaries in the northern Gulf of Mexico, building on the 


results of the recently concluded demonstration project in the region to develop the new 


marine assessment methodology. Continue data collection, processing, and initial analysis for 


West Coast estuaries. Begin data collection and processing to support additional regional 


estuarine assessments starting in the Pacific Northwest, including datasets on fish/shellfish 


abundance and diversity, physical habitat, anthropogenic stress, and biological response.   


 


When resources become available, refine the existing marine geospatial framework for 


estuaries in the contiguous United States and complete initial development of a geospatial 


framework for all estuaries across Alaska.  Explore methodologies to improve linkages 


between the inland and marine components of the National Assessment.  


 


Resources:   $180,000 in funding and staff support from NOAA Fisheries is anticipated in 


FY15 to support ongoing activities. Many portions of the marine assessment effort remain 


unfunded and the products for 2015 will be incomplete due to resource constraints.  


 


o Science and Data Committee outreach efforts will: ensure coordination of assessment and 


data actions among all interested entities including FHPs and LCCs; inform Board and key 


audiences of the direction and products of the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its 


integral data system; and seek new resources and partnerships from appropriate entities and 


groups to increase efficiency and the quality of the National Fish Habitat Assessment. 


Resources: $12,000 to support state agency Science and Data Committee Co-Chair travel for 


six trips @ $2,000 each to include 2 NFHP Board meetings, 2 AFWA meetings and 2 other 


trips to be determined by opportunities. 


 


Key Areas Without Known Resources for FY2015: 







  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 9a 


 


o Continue to develop selected socioeconomic data and analyses to support decision making by 


the Board and FHPs.  This work will focus on continuing and expanding the currently funded 


work to attribute and incorporate appropriate socioeconomic data into the existing Board 


Data System. 
Resources : $35,000 to support specialist work to acquire and integrate socioeconomic data 
into the Board Data System with the development of a limited set of appropriate analytical 
tools for the proper analysis of these data by FHPs and Board.  Fully developing and 
attributing of detailed socioeconomic data and analyses on the same geospatial scale as 


habitat assessment to improve conservation planning abilities of the Board and FHPs will 
require $100,000 in contractual services. 


 


o Develop new science and data products from existing and new Fish Habitat Partnership 


assessment databases to further support FHP habitat analysis and the Board’s 2015 National 


Fish Habitat Assessment.  Key FHP datasets will be identified by the Science and Data 


Committee and these data along with appropriate analytical tools will be integrated into the 


Board’s Data System for wider inter-FHP habitat assessment efforts. 


Resources: $70,000 to support additional GIS specialist time to integrate FHP datasets and 


develop associated analytical tools. 
 


o Strengthening the science foundation of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Board’s 


National Assessment by determining the best approaches for incorporating data on 
connectivity, hydrology and marine fish and shellfish.  These were all gaps in the Assessment 
that were consistently identified by reviewers and FHPs.  
Resources Needed: $400,000 for 2.0 FTEs and workshops to fully develop.  


 
o Refinement of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Board’s National Assessment by 


initiating the filling analytical gaps on connectivity, hydrology and in the marine assessment 
identified by National Fish Habitat Board (Board) and Fish Habitat Partnerships (FHPs) in 


the 2010 National Fish Habitat Assessment (Assessment). 
Resources Needed: $150,000 for 2.0 FTEs to fill key gaps in the Marine Assessment to be 
combined with matching resources from NOAA- Fisheries. 
 


o Completion of the marine assessment for all coastal waters of the U.S. 
Resources Needed:  Total resources needed to complete this task need to be fully assessed 
and determined in FY2015. 


 


o Strengthening the science foundation of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Board’s 
National Assessment by developing standardized effectiveness measurements for FHPs’ 
connectivity projects which will include developing new methods to incorporate fine-scale 
system process information from FHP projects.  This task was requested by the Board. 







  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting  


November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 9a 


Resources Needed: $383,500 for 2.0 FTEs to develop standardized connectivity 
effectiveness measures.  
 


 


Report Prepared By: 
 
Andrea Ostroff, US Geological Survey 
Gary Whelan, MI Department of Natural Resources 


October 14, 2014 
 








Attachment 1.  NFHP Science and Data Committee Membership - October 2014


First Last Committee Responsibility Organization Email
Stan Allen Board Liaison Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission Stan_allen@psmfc.org


Jose Barrios Committee Member US Fish and Wildlife Service Jose_Barrios@fws.gov


Jennifer Bayer Committee Member US Geological Survey, Cook, Washington jbayer@usgs.gov


Timothy Birdsong Committee Member Texas Parks & Wildlife Department, Inland Fisheries Division Timothy.Birdsong@tpwd.state.tx.us


Kristan Blackhart Marine Assessment Team Lead NOAA-NMFS Office of Science and Technology Kristan.Blackhart@noaa.gov


Robin Carlson Committee Member Pacific States Marine Fisheries Commission Robin.Carlson@wildlife.ca.gov


Mary Davis Committee Member Southern Instream Flow Network - SARP Mary@southeastaquatics.net


Nicole Eiden Committee Member Arizona Game and Fish - Wildlife Management Division neiden@azgdfd.gov


Pam Fuller Committee Member US Geological Survey, Southeast Area pfuller@usgs.gov


Dana Infante Inland Assessment Team Lead Michigan State University infanted@msu.edu


Daniel Isaak Committee Member U.S. Forest Service disaak@fs.fed.us


Pete Jacobson Committee Member MN DNR peter.jacobson@state.mn.us


Jeff Kopaska Committee Member Iowa Department of Natural Resources Jeff.Kopaska@dnr.iowa.gov


Thom Litts Committee Member Georgia Department of Natural Resources thom_litts@dnr.state.ga.us


Jonathan Mawdsley Committee Member Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies jmawdsley@fishwildlife.org


James McKenna, Jr. Committee Member US Geological Survey - Tunison Laboratory of Aquatic Science jemckenna@usgs.gov


D. Moe Nelson Committee Member NOAA/NOS Center for Coastal Monitoring and Assessment david.moe.nelson@noaa.gov


Douglas Norton Committee Member US Environmental Protection Agency - Office of Water norton.douglas@epa.gov


Andrea Ostroff Co-Chair US Geological Survey - National Fisheries Program Office  aostroff@usgs.gov


Craig Paukert Committee Member US Geological Survey - Missouri Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit paukertc@missouri.edu


Beth Phelan Committee Member NOAA - Northeast Fisheries Science Center Beth.Phelan@noaa.gov


Cecil Rich Committee Member U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service - Alaska Regional Office Cecil_Rich@fws.gov


Nick Schmal Committee Member U.S. Forest Service nschmal@fs.fed.us


Gary Whelan Co-Chair Michigan Department of Natural Resources - Fisheries Division whelang@michigan.gov


Christopher Estes Committee Technical Advisor Chalk Board Enterprises LCC and Alaska Department of Fish and Game - Retired christopher@chalkboardllc.com


Jonathan Higgins Committee Technical Advisor The Nature Conservancy - Global Conservation Approach Team jhiggins@tnc.org


Kay McGraw Committee Technical Advisor NOAA/NMFS - NOAA Restoration Center Kay.McGraw@noaa.gov


Priya Nanjappa Committee Technical Advisor Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies pnanjappa@fishwildlife.org 


Scott Sowa Committee Technical Advisor The Nature Conservancy, Michigan Field Office ssowa@TNC.ORG



mailto:Stan_allen@psmfc.org

mailto:Jose_Barrios@fws.gov

mailto:jbayer@usgs.gov

mailto:Robin.Carlson@wildlife.ca.gov

mailto:Mary@southeastaquatics.net

mailto:neiden@azgdfd.gov

mailto:pfuller@usgs.gov

mailto:infanted@msu.edu

mailto:disaak@fs.fed.us

mailto:thom_litts@dnr.state.ga.us

https://webmail.state.mi.us/OWA/redir.aspx?C=7121207cd2f944aeb8476d25fa3b322a&URL=mailto%3apaukertc%40missouri.edu

mailto:nschmal@fs.fed.us

mailto:whelang@michigan.gov






National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
   November 5-6, 2014  


Tab 9c 
 


Board update by national inland assessment team 


 


Dana Infante and Wes Daniel 


 


During the last year, the national inland assessment team has been working towards the 2015 


assessment of inland habitats by addressing two key areas.  First, we have been updating and 


integrating additional datasets into our database for improved characterization of landscape-scale 


disturbances, improved resolution of landscape-scale disturbances through additions and 


modifications of units in our spatial framework, and improved characterization of stream fish 


assemblages.  Second, we have been working to improve the nature of our analytical approach for 


characterizing stream fish response to landscape factors.  The Science and Data Committee have 


provided input on these areas, and major steps taken towards meeting this objective are listed 


below. 


 


Recent and upcoming talks related to national inland assessment: 


 


Daniel, W. M., D. M. Infante, J. Ross, K. Herreman, and C. Estes. 2014. Influence of catchment-


scale landscape factors on fishes of Southeast Alaska: Determining condition of fluvial fish 


habitat for the National Fish Habitat Partnership 2015 Assessment. Alaska Chapter of the 


American Fisheries Society Annual Meeting, October 20-24, 2014, Juneau, Alaska. 


 


Daniel, W. M., D. M. Infante, L. Wang, K. Herreman, A. R. Cooper, D. Wieferich, J. Ross, R. 


Tingley, and Y. P. Tsang. 2014. 2015 National assessment of fluvial fish habitats: Improving 


opportunities for conservation and management. 144th Annual Meeting of the American Fisheries 


Society, August 17-21, 2014, Quebec City, Quebec. 


 


Infante, D. M., W. M. Daniel, K. Herreman, J. Nohner, and W. W. Taylor. Invited. 2014. 


Enhancing assessments of river condition for improved conservation and management of fluvial 


fish habitat. 144th Annual Meeting of the American Fisheries Society, August 17-21, 2014, 


Quebec City, Quebec. 


 


Infante, D. M. Invited. 2014. Characterizing landscape influences on stream fish assemblages : 


Implications for national assessment of stream habitats. Geospatial Sciences and Natural 


Resource Management Seminar Series, South Dakota State University, April 21, 2014, 


Brookings, South Dakota. 


 


Major steps taken for the 2015 NFHP Inland Assessment 


 Data improvements for 2015 national inland assessment. 


o Updated National Land Cover Database (NLCD) to 2006 version 


o Updated population (US Census) and roads layers (Tiger 2006se) 


o Added additional disturbance layers 


 USGS Coal and USDOE Uranium mines 


 Dam metrics (National Anthropogenic Barriers Dataset) 







National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
   November 5-6, 2014  


Tab 9c 
 


 USGS Sparrow nutrient data* 


 EPA Water withdrawal* 


o Updated and added new fish records 


 Nearly doubled the number of available fish sample sites (39,318 unique 


sites) from multiple state, federal, university and museum databases. 


o Added new metric important to management (Games fishes). This metric was 


applied specifically to each state and reflects only that state’s recognized game 


species.* 


 Spatial Framework 


o Continuing to use NHDPlusV1 


o Now have four spatial scales of interest 


 Local catchment 


 Local 90m buffer 


 Network catchment 


 Network 90m buffer 


 Accounting for variation in the data 


o Accounted for spatial autocorrelation within the site data 


o Grouped streams into two size classes for analysis (Creeks >100Km2 and Rivers 


<100Km2)* 


o Continuing to use analytical steps to remove natural variation from the fish 


assemblage data, by identifying best available site conditions 


 Analytical methods to determine habitat condition 


o We are now using two threshold detection methods: change-point analysis with 


indicator analysis (TITAN) and piecewise linear regression. We accepted only 


thresholds that were highly statistically significant (P≤ 0.01) for both techniques 


and overlapped within low amount of error. The combination of the 


nonparametric and linear threshold analysis along with the strict criteria of 


significance provided conservative estimates of fish threshold responses to 


anthropogenic disturbnace.* 


 


*= received input and approval from the NFHP Science and Data Committee 


 








2015 NFHP Marine Assessment Update 


October 17, 2014 


Kristan Blackhart (Kristan.Blackhart@noaa.gov), NOAA Fisheries Office of Science and 
Technology 


Background 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership (NFHP) calls for national assessments of fish habitats 
within the United States every five years, with the first National Fish Habitat Assessment 
completed in 2010. The purpose of these national assessments is to provide a comprehensive 


analysis of the relative condition of fish habitats at national and regional scales, providing 
national perspectives to facilitate planning and measure success and to complement efforts led by 
the regional Fish Habitat Partnerships. Assessment products are intended to provide the NFHP 
Board, Partnerships, and stakeholders with information on intact and degraded habitats, key 


disturbance factors, and the scope and effectiveness of habitat conservation activities over time. 
Each successive 5-year assessment interval is additionally intended to fill gaps identified in the 
previous National Fish Habitat Assessments. 
 


In 2008, an assessment team lead by NOAA scientists initiated efforts to develop a marine 
habitat assessment component for the NFHP National Assessment. For the 2010 assessment, the 
NOAA assessment team successfully developed a multi-scale geospatial framework and 
assembled an index of estuary condition for the contiguous United States based on national data 


sets of landscape disturbance (see Greene et al., 2014 for more details). A complementary 
analysis was completed for estuaries in Southeast Alaska as well. The 2010 estuary assessment 
provided a foundation for further analysis, but the coarse spatial resolution and lack of data on 
fish abundance and distribution were identified as clear gaps to be addressed in future 


assessments. In 2012, the NFHP Science and Data Committee developed a 2015 National Fish 
Habitat Assessment Strategy that outlines the goals for the next iteration of the National Fish 
Habitat Assessment. The Assessment Strategy identifies the overall goal for the 2015 Marine 
Assessment as strategically addressing the gaps identified in the 2010 Marine Assessment, 


particularly the lack of a fish-stressor analysis.  
 
Since completion of the 2010 Marine Assessment products, the NOAA assessment team has 
been focusing efforts on improving the analytical basis of the marine assessment by 


incorporating available fish and shellfish data and stressor relationships. This work has required 
refinement of the original geospatial framework developed for the 2010 assessment, as well as 
extensive development of a new assessment methodology to incorporate fish abundance and 
distribution information and new sources of stressor data. To fully take advantage of available 


data resources and improve spatial resolution of results for the next iteration of the marine 
assessment, the new marine assessment methodology will be implemented on a regional basis. 
This new regional approach not only enables us to better relate habitat condition to effects on 
fish populations and communities, but also provides the NOAA assessment team and NFHP 


Science and Data Committee increased opportunities for collaboration and coordination with 
Fish Habitat Partnerships and other regional stakeholders and promotes better incorporation of 
regional habitat concerns.  
 



http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs12237-014-9855-9





Progress   
Spatial Framework: Our updated process for delineating estuary and associated watershed units 
in the geospatial framework was initiated for the northern Gulf of Mexico to produce a revised 


geospatial framework for use in the Gulf of Mexico marine assessment. This process is currently 
undergoing further refinements for updates to spatial units on the Pacific Coast, particularly in 
terms of improvements to identification of tidal wetlands and the head of tide to refine landward 
boundaries of estuary units. The process and products of these efforts are currently under review 


with regional experts and are expected to be finalized by the end of the year. Nearshore units are 
also under development for the Pacific Coast using available information on coastal drift cells to 
delineate individual units along the coast. These new nearshore spatial units will support 
extension of analysis beyond estuaries when resources become available. 


 
Model Development: A pilot assessment to develop and test the new marine assessment methods 
was completed in late 2013 for estuaries in the Gulf of Mexico. This effort included extensive 
collection of available regional datasets on fish abundance and distribution, natural habitat 


variation, and stressor variables. The new assessment approach uses several steps within a 
statistical modeling framework to identify appropriate indicators, systematically evaluate 
species/community sensitivity to anthropogenic stressors, identify stressor thresholds across 
which changes to populations and communities occur, and develop biological condition scores. 


Critically, this modeling approach gives us the power to account for systematic biases resulting 
from methodological differences between sampling programs, filter out natural factors that may 
be affecting population patterns, and isolate variation resulting from anthropogenic stressors. 
Development of the modeling framework was led by a group of academic experts from around 


the country and the NOAA assessment team. Throughout the process of model development and 
testing, regional experts (including members of the Southeast Aquatic Resources Partnership) 
were invited to review and provide feedback on model development and pilot assessment results. 
The pilot assessment included analysis of only a subset of the available data (used to test and 


refine models), and thus cannot provide condition scores for estuaries in the northern Gulf of 
Mexico. However, the pilot assessment does provide a strong foundation for further work, 
including a follow-up full assessment of estuaries in the northern Gulf of Mexico and methods to 
be applied in additional coastal regions.  


 


Next Steps  
A full assessment of estuaries in the northern Gulf of Mexico, building from the results of the 
pilot assessment described above, was initiated in October 2014. This assessment will provide 


biological condition scores for estuaries and associated watersheds across the Gulf Coast. Results 
are expected in mid-2015 for inclusion in the NFHP 2015 National Fish Habitat Assessment 
Report.  
 


Several coastal habitat assessment efforts are underway on the Pacific Coast, coordinated by the 
Pacific Marine and Estuarine Fish Habitat Partnership (PMEP). These include an assessment of 
nursery habitats (led by PMEP), an assessment of forage fish populations and associated habitats 
(lead by the NOAA Northwest Fisheries Science Center), and an estuary condition assessment 


using the methods developed in the Gulf of Mexico estuary pilot assessment (led by the NOAA 
assessment team). Full results will not be available for the NFHP 2015 National Fish Habitat 







Assessment Report, but intermediate products will be summarized to contribute the most up-to-
date information available.  
 


A coastal assessment is also underway for the Greater Atlantic Region, led by the North Atlantic 
Landscape Conservation Cooperative and the Atlantic Coastal Fish Habitat Partnership. 
Downstream Strategies has been contracted to develop assessment products for this effort. This 
assessment uses a distinct set of methods from other coastal assessment efforts, and the NOAA 


assessment team is not directly involved in development (although members are serving on the 
technical advisory team). An initial assessment of winter flounder in Narragansett Bay is 
currently under development to test and refine the modeling approach to be used for the 
assessments. Additional assessments targeting specific species/communities will follow.  


 


Challenges  
The 2015 Assessment Strategy identifies 13 prioritized tasks for the marine assessment – many 
of these outlined tasks are dependent on finding additional budgetary and technical resources and 


will remain incomplete for the 2015 assessment. Overall, a lack of resources (staff time, funding) 
has slowed progress on development/improvement of the marine assessment, and will continue 
to do so for the foreseeable future. Currently, the only sources of funding for the marine portions 
of the National Fish Habitat Assessment are in-kind contributions and a small amount of funding 


from NOAA.  
 








      


 


 
 
 
 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 


National Fish Habitat Partnership 


 
November 
5&6, 2014 
 
Board Meeting Book  
for the National Fish 
Habitat Board 
 
Washington, DC 
 
  


 
 


Potomac River 
Washington, DC 


 





		National Fish Habitat Partnership

		Adding pictures to your newsletter

		A special message from our family

		Season’s greetings!










 


National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 10 
 


Title :   Communications Committee Report 


 


Desired outcome:  An informational briefing to the Board on the committee’s 2013 work plan 


and consensus on Board’s priorities for the committee in 2014.   


 


Background:  At its September 2013 Meeting, the Board tasked the communications committee 


with addressing the following priority issues during 2014: 


 


2014 Priority Recommendations :  
 
Task A - Expand the public relations campaign for the 10 Waters to Watch program. 
 


Task B - Establish a working group with the Board, the USFWS, and industry to develop 
messaging related to the core principles of NFHP. This is the first step in developing a national 
campaign to connect the National Fish Habitat Partnership and the FHPs with anglers.  
 


Task C - Create web resources to share Fish Habitat Partnership information and activities 
including FHP project summaries. 
 
Task D - Expand reach of social media reach through targeted post promotions. 


 
Task E - Expand the NFHP presence at select events. 
 


 


2014 Priority Progress: 


Task A – We allocated $500 to utilize a news release service for the 2014 Waters to Watch 
Campaign through (E-Releases).  For a minimal investment this was worthwhile as a summary 


of the full news release was distributed through 293 websites and was viewed over 135 times.  
There were also 103 Media views from the distribution of this release.  The Waters to Watch 
press release was also picked up by other outlets through independent outreach from the FHPs 
and Communications Committee for NFHP.  A full Wirewatch Report from E-Releases can be 


viewed at: https://visibility.prnewswire.com/vr3/release_overview.jsp.  The Waters to Watch 
Campaign also utilized a boost in social media through retweets from partner organizations and 
FHPs (Twitter), and targeted post promotions on Facebook that reached 56,000 people on the 
platform.  This targeted post generated more followers to the page and the release post than we 
have achieved through any single post in the history of the Facebook page for NFHP.  There was 


an emphasis placed on video in 2014 to highlight the work of the FHPs.  The Communications 
Committee successfully produced 2 quality videos highlighting Waters to Watch projects from 
the Eastern Brook Trout Joint Venture (EBTJV) and the California Fish Passage Forum.  These 
videos received a high number of views on YouTube in comparison to other conservation related 


videos, with the EBTJV receiving nearly 400 views in the first week of its release.           
 



https://visibility.prnewswire.com/vr3/release_overview.jsp





 


National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 10 
 


Task B – The Board approved a marketing/rebranding strategy for NFHP at its March 2014 Board 


Meeting.  NFHP received some base funding to begin developing the campaign and will be 


conducting a comprehensive analysis of NFHP FHPs in November to get a baseline analysis of 


where the FHPs are currently at in terms of capacity and understanding of marketing.  A marketing 


team through Design & Image in Denver, CO. and Fishpond fly fishing are leading up the marketing 


campaign in coordination with Board members and NFHP Board Staff and members of the 


communications committee. Deliverables of the marketing campaign will begin rolling out in early 


2015.   


 


Task C – The NFHP Newsletter was improved in 2014 and included FHP features  and news and was 


distributed on a more consistent monthly timeline.  The newsletter subscriber list increased by 300 


individuals in 2014 through direct web signups and marketing events NFHP was present at in 2014.  


A continuing effort is being made through the communications committee to obtain individual 


project reports from the US FWS that detail out all of the FHP projects that are funded through 


NFHP.  Several of the FHPs are doing collaborative newsletters (ex. Coastal FHP Newsletter) and 


individual newsletters that are helping to build content for the NFHP website and monthly newsletter.     


 


Task D – The social media presence for NFHP was expanded in 2014 through targeted post 


promotions on Facebook.  The communications committee highlighted a few select news items to 


promote to Facebook subscribers that having interest in fishing or conservation.  This effort led to 


increased likes and followers to the NFHP Facebook page.  It was successful for the small investment 


and is a successful tool to increase traffic on social media.     


 


Task E – in 2014 NFHP had marketing tables at the National Association of Conservation Districts 


Annual Meeting (February), River Rally (May) and the RAE/TCS Summit (November).  The 


Summit and the National Association of Conservation Districts were new events for NFHP in 2014.  


These events helped to get the NFHP message out to a wider audience and the traffic at these events 


was good. We will look to target different events in 2015.   


 


 


Tentative list of priority issues to be addressed in 2015: 


 


o Continue building database for newsletter distribution to increase engagement with partner 


coalition. Utilize AFWA to reach out to State Fish and Wildlife Agencies to increase 


engagement.  


 


o Increase usage of video and further campaign to document work of Fish Habitat Partnerships.  


(Budget need: $10,000) 


 


o Continue coordination with legislative affairs team in supporting developments of the 


National Fish Habitat Conservation Act 


 


o NFHP website re-development. (Budget need: $10,000) 


 







 


National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 
November 5-6, 2014 


Tab 10 
 


o Increase outreach of Waters to Watch Campaign (Budget need: $750.00) 


 


o Continue development of the NFHP Marketing Campaign and re-branding efforts for the NFHP 


program and the FHPs.   


(Resources Needed: $80,000 - $90,000) 


 


o PR and Marketing Resources for the NFHP 2015 Status Report (Budget Need: $2,000) 


 


o Establish a regular schedule of meetings for the communications committee and work to 


include more FHP members on the committee. 


 


o Review and make any needed changes to the communications strategy (Board approved 2011 


and updated in 2013) to ensure that it remains a guide for committee work and maintained as 


a living document. 


 








  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


November 5-6, 2014 


  Tab 11a     


 


 


Title: Joint Meeting with the RAE Board 


 


Desired Outcomes: National Fish Habitat Board understanding of RAE Board make-up, function, 


and operations and Board discussion with RAE Board members regarding opportunities for 


collaboration (e.g. restoration, legislation, etc.) 


 


Background: 


(Text from: http://www.estuaries.org/about-us) 


Restore America's Estuaries is a national 501(c)(3) nonprofit organization established in 1995 as an 


alliance of eleven community-based conservation organizations working to protect and restore the 


vital habitats of our nation’s estuaries.  RAE’s work includes the following: 


- On-the-ground restoration projects that engage local communities.  


- Production of an array of collaborative tools, reports and resources to guide the restoration 


process 


- Address emerging issues relevant to our mission: Advancing Blue Carbon; Living Shorelines; 


Coastal Waters Acidification 


- Uniting the national restoration community, key decision makers and local citizens through our 


biennial national conference, National Estuaries Week, and through our national outreach efforts. 


 


 


Agenda Item Schedule: 


 


10:00  NFHP Board Presentation  


1- Where we are 


2- What we do 


3- Board composition 


4- New 501(c)3 


 


10:10    Questions for the NFHP Board 


 


10:20    RAE Board Presentation and Questions  


 


1- Make-Up and Function: 


a. Advocacy and Legislative efforts 


b. Process for priority setting --  nationally and with individual partners 


c. What role if any, does the Board play in implementing restoration projects  


(ie. assistance to partners) 



http://www.estuaries.org/about-us





  National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


November 5-6, 2014 


  Tab 11a     


 


d. What projects beyond on-the-ground restoration does the RAE Board or 


partners implement and how are these activities measured/promoted (ie. 


summits, workshops, etc.) 


 


2- Operations 


a. Frequency of meetings 


b. Individual board member responsibilities – fundraising, marketing, partner 


building 


c. 501(c)(3) tips 


 


3- Questions from the NFHP Board 


 


 


11:00   Additional Discussion (led by RAE)   


 


1- Is there a nexus for RAE and NFHP implementing projects with mutual priorities 


through the Boards or through individual partners and FHPs? 


 


2- Is there a nexus for RAE and NFHP in advocating for habitat legislation? 


 


3- Next steps 








 








RESTORE AMERICA’S ESTUARIES 


 Officers and Board of Directors 


2014 
 


Kim Coble, Vice President 


Chesapeake Bay Foundation 


6 Herndon Avenue 


Annapolis, MD 21403 


443-482-2166 x2166; fax 410-268-6687 


kcoble@cbf.org 


 


Todd Miller, Executive Director 


North Carolina Coastal Federation 


3609 Highway 24     


Newport, NC 28570 


252-393-8185 x25; fax 252-393-7508 


toddm@nccoast.org 


Peter Clark, President (RAE Chair) 


Tampa Bay Watch 


3000 Pinellas Bayway S. 


Tierra Verde, FL 33715 


727-867-8166 x226; fax 727-867-8188 


pclark@tampabaywatch.org 


Curt Johnson 


Save the Sound – a program of Connecticut 


Fund for the Environment 


142 Temple Street, 3
rd


 Floor 


New Haven, CT  06510 


203-787-0646 x103 


cjohnson@savethesound.org 


Kimberly Davis Reyher, Executive Director 


Coalition to Restore Coastal Louisiana 


6160 Perkins Road, Suite 225 


Baton Rouge, LA 70808  


225-767-4181; fax 225-768-8193 


kimberly.reyher@crcl.org 


 


Peter Shelley, Vice President (Secretary)  


Conservation Law Foundation 


62 Summer Street 


Boston, MA  02110 


617-850-1754; fax 617-350-4030 


pshelley@clf.org 


Tim Dillingham, Executive Director 


American Littoral Society 


18 Hartshorne Drive, Suite 1 


Highlands, NJ 07732 


732-291-0055 x104; fax 732-872-8041 


tim@littoralsociety.org 


Jonathan F. Stone, Exec. Dir., (Vice Chair) 


Save The Bay – Narragansett Bay 


100 Save The Bay Drive 


Providence, RI 02905 


401-272-3540 x104; fax 401-273-7153 


jstone@savebay.org 


Steve Dubiel, Executive Director (Treasurer) 


EarthCorps 


6310 NE 74
th


 Street, Suite 201E 


Seattle, WA 98115 


206-322-9296 x101; fax 206-322-9312 


steve@earthcorps.org 


Robert Stokes, President  


Galveston Bay Foundation 


17330 Highway 3 


Webster, TX 77598 


281-332-3381 x 211; fax 281-332-3153 


bstokes@galvbay.org cell 713-898-8843 


David Lewis, Executive Director  


Save The Bay – San Francisco 


1330 Broadway, Suite 1800 


Oakland, CA 94612-2519 


510.463.6850; fax 510.463.6851 


dlewis@savesfbay.org 


Jeff Benoit, President and CEO 


Restore America’s Estuaries 


2020 North 14th Street, Suite 210 


Arlington, VA 22201 


703-524-0248 x11; fax 703-524-0287 


jbenoit@estuaries.org 


 


 



mailto:kimberly.reyher@crcl.org






 
National Fish Habitat Board Meeting 


November 5-6, 2014   
Tab 12a 


 


 
Title: USFWS Fish and Aquatic Conservation Program (FAC) Strategic Plan Update  


 


Desired outcome(s): Board awareness of the status of USFWS FAC Strategic Plan development 


 


Background:  


On July 29, David Hoskins provided an overview of the USFWS FAC Strategic Plan to members of 


the National Fish Habitat Board via webinar.  On August 25 the draft plan was released for review.  


On October 7, a comment letter was submitted to the USFWS on behalf of the NFHP Board. 


 


Briefing Book Materials: 


USFWS Strategic Plan comment letter provided to USFWS on behalf of the NFHP Board 








 


 


National Fish Habitat Partnership 
444 North Capitol Street, NW, Suite725 


Washington, DC  20001 


Tel: 202/ 624-7890  F: 202/ 624-7891  
Web www.fishhabitat.org 


  


         October 7, 2014 
Mr. Dan Ashe  


Director  
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service  
Main Interior 


1849 C Street NW, Room 3331 
Washington, DC 20240-0001 
 


Dear Director Ashe, 
  
The National Fish Habitat Partnership Board (Board) has completed its review of the US 
Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) DRAFT Strategic Plan for the Fish and Aquatic 


Conservation Program (FAC).  Overall, the Board believes that the USFWS program is 
setting a strong foundation for their FAC Program in aligning the Mission, Vision and 
Values of this Draft Strategic Plan with the Sportfishing and Boating Partnership 


Council’s (SFBPC) Strategic Vision for the program.  The Goals within the DRAFT Plan are 
clear and are aligned with stakeholder interests for the program’s future.   
 


The Board, however has concerns with regard to Goal 2, Objective 1:  “Develop 
Landscape Scale Habitat Conservation Strategy”, for which we respectfully request 
clarity from your agency.  Specifically, our concern here is the National Fish Habitat 


Partnership (NFHP) is currently accomplishing what this proposed objective seeks to 
create.   The Fish Habitat Partnerships, working at various geographic scales, have a 
responsibility to develop aquatic conservation strategies.  And at the national level, the 
Board completed a national aquatic habitat assessment in 2010 to help classify priority 


species and habitats to inform habitat protection and rehabilitation investments and will 
complete our second national assessment in 2015.  This unique and critical aquatic 
habitat information should be used in the implementation of your plan.   


 
Our second concern is the language of the objective and the foundation of the USFWS 
Landscape Conservation Cooperatives (LCCs) infers that NFHP should be consumed by 


LCCs during the implementation of this Plan.  This is of great concern because, while 
NFHP and the LCCs may share some similarity in aspects of purpose and vision, they 
differ in focus and implementation.  As the Joint Ventures are to birds, NFHP provides a 


specific and crucial momentum towards landscape scale fish habitat conservation that 
should not be minimized or overlooked.   We are building a strong aquatic constituent 
base, which have no parallels with the LCCs.  This point is driven home by the fact that 


we are generating at minimum 3:1 matches for federal funds, much of whi ch is provided 
by external partners.  We agree that thinking about landscape conservation collectively 
is important, but not at the expense of one program or another.   
 



http://www.fishhabitat.org/





 


 


It is also unclear in your plan how these stated goals will be prioritized with budgets and 
within the 8 USFWS Regions and what the timeline will be for implementation.  The 
Board would welcome an invitation in planning and discussion with your agency on 
implementation of the Goals and Objectives critical to the NFHP Program.      


 
Finally, as stated in the Conclusions and Next Steps, the success of the Plan lies in the 
ability of the FAC Program to work collaboratively with partners and stakeholders to 


realize the Plan’s goals and achieve our shared vision for the future.  This is no easy task 
and we as a Board acknowledge that your agency has been pivotal to the success of the 
NFHP and we want to help your agency make this Plan practical.     


 
The Board appreciates the opportunity to provide comments on this plan and please 
feel free to contact me, if you have any questions moving forward with the plan.   


 
Thank You, 


 
 


 
Kelly Hepler 
Chair, National Fish Habitat Board  


 
 








	  
National	  Fish	  Habitat	  Board	  Meeting	  


November	  5-‐6,	  2014	  	  	  
Tab	  13	  	  


	  
	  
Title: Legislative Update  
 
Desired outcome(s): Board awareness of the National Fish Habitat Conservation Act status and 2015 
legislative approach 
 
Background:  


The National Fish Habitat Conservation Act was introduced in the Senate in the 113th Congress on 
March 5, 2014. There has been an updated legislative fact sheet created for the bill and a press 
release distributed for the announcement.   
 
The National Fish Habitat Conservation Act was introduced with bi-partisan support from Senators 
Ben Cardin (D-MD) and Mike Crapo (R-ID) (lead sponsors).  Senator Mark Begich (D-AK) was 
added as a sponsor on April 30.   
 
The U.S. Senate Committee on Environment and Public Works passed the National Fish Habitat 
Conservation Act (S. 2080) en bloc, in a package with six other water resource and conservation bills 
on April 3, 2014.  The bill then proceeded to the U.S. Senate floor, where it failed to win approval.   
 
Both Senators Cardin and Crapo sit on the Environment and Public Works Committee. Senator 
Cardin is the Chair of the Water and Wildlife Subcommittee, and Senator Crapo is a long-time 
supporter of NFHCA. Previous versions of NFHCA have enjoyed broad bipartisan support in 
Congress, including bipartisan approval by the Environment and Public Works Committee in two 
different Congresses. The bill included modifications to language in earlier versions of NFHCA that 
were made in consultation with several Senators and their staffs from both sides of the aisle.  
 
Link to Bill on Thomas.gov: 
http://beta.congress.gov/bill/113th-congress/senate-
bill/2080?q={%22search%22%3A[%22S.+2080%22]}  
 
 
2015 Legislative Approach: 


The coalition (TNC/TU/AFWA/ASA) will be building off of the great momentum we have had in 
2014. If any tweaks are needed to the legislation this will be done before reintroduction early next 
year. We look forward to again obtaining bipartisan support. Next year we hope to introduce in both 
the House and Senate. We will reassess this approach after the Elections.   
 
	  








1 | P a g e  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Board Member Guide 
 


A Manual for 
Members of the 


National Fish Habitat Board 


 
Updated October 2014 


  







2 | P a g e  
 


 
Board Member Guide Table of Contents 


 
Introduction Page 3 


 
History of the National Fish Habitat Partnership Page 4 


 
Mission, Goals, Objectives Page 5 


 
The National Fish Habitat Board Page 6 


 
Figure 1. National Fish Habitat Partnership structure Page 6 


 
Roles and Expectations of Board Members Page 7 


 
Figure 2. The Fish Habitat Partnerships Page 8 


 
Fish Habitat Partnerships Page 8 


 
Partners Coalition Page 9 


 
Federal Caucus Page 9 


 
Budgeting Page 9 


 
Committees Page 10 


 
National Fish Habitat Board Staff Page 11 


 
Policy and Technical Documents Approved by the National Fish Habitat Board Page 13 


 


 
Appendix A. Definitions Page 14 


 
Appendix B. National Fish Habitat Board Charter Page 15 


  







3 | P a g e  
 
 


Introduction 


 
Congratulations on your appointment to the National Fish Habitat Board. This manual provides 


background for you in your role as a Board member, and includes the Board’s charter and useful 


definitions in the appendix. 


 


The 22-member Board was established to promote, oversee and coordinate the National Fish 


Habitat Partnership (Partnership) and implementation of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan 


(Plan).   You will serve alongside aquatic conservation leaders from across the United States. The 


Board includes members from federal, state and tribal governments as well as conservation 


organizations and industry. 


 


 


This Board sets priorities in line with the Action Plan, makes decisions on budgets, approves and 


guides Fish Habitat Partnerships, develops national measures of success and evaluation criteria for 


partnerships, and reports to Congress, states, and other partners on the status and 


accomplishments of the Partnership. The Board is supported by staff and committees. 


 


 


Membership on the Board marks you and your organization as a leader in fish habitat conservation, 


and gives you an opportunity to contribute to the Partnership’s vision of “healthy habitats, healthy 


fish, healthy people, and healthy economies”. Your work with the Board and the Partnership will 


have an impact on aquatic habitats in our country for generations to come. 


 


Sincerely, 


 


Kelly Hepler 


  







4 | P a g e  
 
 


HISTORY OF THE NATIONAL FISH HABITAT PARTNERSHIP 


 


Determined to reverse the declines of America's fish habitats, leaders from state and federal agencies, 
tribes, foundations, conservation and angling groups, businesses and industries joined together to 
create the National Fish Habitat Action Plan (Plan). The approach is similar to the effort undertaken for 
waterfowl and their habitat in the 1980s through the North American Waterfowl Management Plan. 


 
Development of the Plan began in 2001 when an ad hoc group of fisheries interests, led by the Sport 
Fishing and Boating Partnership Council, explored the concept of developing a partnership for fish 
habitat. The effort built momentum in 2003 when the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies issued 
an endorsement and agreed to take a leadership role. The Association appointed a diverse work group 
that drafted the Plan in 2005-06. The Plan was signed on April 24, 2006 by the Secretaries of Interior 
and Commerce and the President and Executive Director of the Association. 


 
In September 2006, the National Fish Habitat Board held its inaugural meeting and approved its charter 
under the chairmanship of John Cooper (South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks).   In 
subsequent meetings, the Board developed policies and guidance for Fish Habitat Partnerships and 
formally recognized Partnerships that met the criteria; approved a framework for assessing the  
condition of the nation’s fish habitats; and issued the report Through a Fish’s Eye: The Status of Fish 
Habitats in the United States 2010. The Board annually bestows National Fish Habitat Awards to honor 
individuals or entities that demonstrate extraordinary dedication, innovation or excellence in aquatic 
resource conservation and annually announces “Ten Waters to Watch”, which represent a snapshot of 
key conservation efforts in progress. Kelly Hepler (Alaska Department of Fish and Game) has chaired the 
Board since May 2008. 


 
Under the leadership of the Board, the National Fish Habitat Partnership has grown to include 
thousands of organizations and individuals in all 50 states, and has met the objectives of the original 
Plan. In July 2012 the Board issued the 2nd Edition of the Plan, identifying new objectives to build upon 
past progress. 


 
The National Fish Habitat Action Plan encompasses five important lessons that emerge from America's 
past efforts to protect and restore fish habitat: 


• be strategic rather than merely opportunistic 
• address the causes of and processes behind fish habitat decline, rather than the symptoms 
• provide increased and sustained investment to allow for long-term success 


• monitor and be accountable for scientifically sound and measurable results 
• share information and knowledge at all levels from local communities to Congress 


 
The Plan offers an unprecedented opportunity to meet the challenges of protecting, restoring and 
enhancing aquatic habitats on a national scale. The plan's vision of healthy habitats, healthy fish, 
healthy people and healthy economies will be achieved through cooperation, investment and 
stewardship. This vision will result in local actions that yield measurable social, economic and ecological 
benefits — and more fish! 


  







5 | P a g e  
 
 
MISSION, GOALS, AND OBJECTIVES 


(from the National Fish Habitat Action Plan, 2nd Edition, July 2012) 
 


Mission 
The Mission of the National Fish Habitat Partnership is to protect, restore, and enhance the nation’s fish 
and aquatic communities through partnerships that foster fish habitat conservation and improve the 
quality of life for the American people. This mission will be achieved by: 


• Supporting Fish Habitat Partnerships and ensuring their effectiveness. 
• Mobilizing and focusing national and local support for achieving fish habitat conservation goals 


• Measuring and communicating the status and needs of aquatic habitats 
• Providing national leadership and coordination to conserve fish habitats 


 
Goals 


• Protect and maintain intact and healthy aquatic systems 
• Prevent further degradation of fish habitats that have been adversely affected 
• Reverse declines in the quality and quantity of aquatic habitats to improve the overall health of 


fish and other aquatic organisms 
• Increase the quality and quantity of fish habitats that support a broad natural diversity of fish 


and other aquatic species 


 
Objectives   


1. Achieve measurable habitat conservation results through strategic actions of Fish Habitat 
Partnerships that improve ecological condition, restore natural processes, or prevent the decline 
of intact and healthy systems leading to better fish habitat conditions and increased fishing 
opportunities. 


2. Establish a consensus set of national conservation strategies as a framework to guide future 
actions and investment by the Fish Habitat Partnerships by 2013. 


3. Broaden the community of support for fish habitat conservation by increasing fishing 
opportunities, fostering the participation of local communities – especially young people – in 
conservation activities, and raising public awareness of the role healthy fish habitats play in the 
quality of life and economic well-being of local communities 


4. Fill gaps in the National Fish Habitat Assessment and its associated database to empower 
strategic conservation action supported by broadly available scientific information, and 
integrate socio-economic data in the analysis to improve people’s lives in a manner consistent 
with fish habitat conservation goals. 


5. Communicate the conservation outcomes produced collectively by Fish Habitat Partnerships, as 
well as new opportunities and voluntary approaches for conserving fish habitat, to the public 
and conservation partners. 


  







6 | P a g e  
 


 


THE NATIONAL FISH HABITAT BOARD 


 


The Board consists of up to 22 members. Except those who serve by virtue of their office, members are 
appointed by the Board’s Executive Leadership Team, consisting of the President and Executive Director 
of the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies; Assistant Administrator for Fisheries, National Oceanic 
and Atmospheric Administration; and the Director of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  See the Board 
charter in Appendix B for details. 


 
State Government Representatives   
The Board includes five state fish and wildlife agency representative and the Executive Director of the 
Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies. 


 
Federal Government Representatives   
The Board includes up to five federal agency representatives. These include the Assistant Administrator 
for Fisheries, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, and the Director of the U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service, Department of the Interior, who serve by virtue of their office. 


 
Indian Tribal Representation   
The Board includes at least one representative from an Indian tribal or native Alaskan government. 


 
Non-Governmental Organizations   
The National Fish and Wildlife Foundation and the American Fisheries Society each nominate a 
representative for approval by the ELT. 


 
Other Groups   
The remaining eight members are appointed from a range of interests including: sportfishing, 
commercial fishing, sportfishing industry, academic, and land and aquatic resource conservation 
organizations. In addition, these members are appointed to ensure the Board includes a balance of 
governmental and non-governmental organizations and a balance of freshwater and marine interests. 


 


Figure 1. National Fish Habitat Partnership structure 
 


 
 
  







7 | P a g e  
 
 
ROLES AND EXPECTATIONS OF BOARD MEMBERS 


 


General Board Position Description   
Board members must be organized, proactive, analytical and creative thinkers, and should have 
excellent coalition building skills. Board members represent the views of their organization and sector, 
but must also be able to keep in mind the bigger picture, i.e. what’s in it for all instead of what’s in it for 
my group.  They must be willing to invest time and energy in the Board and the Partnership, and 
participate in Board meetings to the best of their ability.  We encourage all Board members to: 


• advocate actively for the National Fish Habitat Partnership 
• help the 18 board-approved Fish Habitat Partnerships leverage resources, and 
• work to enhance collaboration among partners 
• identify challenges facing fish habitats and resources to address the challenges. 


 
Code of Conduct   
Members appointed to the National Fish Habitat Board are expected to conduct themselves in a 
professional manner using the highest principles, values, and standards, to guide their interactions and 
decisions as a Board member.  Members should seek to guide the Partnership in a way that contributes 
to the welfare of its key stakeholders and respects the rights of all constituents affected by its 
operations. 


 
Board Member Commitment   
Members of the Board are expected to participate in three or more Board meetings per year (at least 
two in person and one conference call) plus related activities.  While there are no specific time 
commitments, members should be willing to spend whatever time is necessary to become informed 
about agenda topics and engaged during the Board meeting discussions and decisions.   Members 
should carefully review Board meeting briefing books, provided in advance of meetings. 


 
Committees and Workgroups   
Board members may be asked to serve on ad hoc committees or workgroups that are formed to 
accomplish specific tasks undertaken by the Board. Every Board member should expect to serve on one 
or more of these committees during his/her tenure as Board member. 


 
Board Member Travel Expenses   
The Board has travel assistance funding built-in to its budget annually for members to utilize if necessary 
for travel to and from Board meetings. Please contact Ryan Roberts or Matt Menashes to inquire about 
travel expenses. 


 
Federal Agency Involvement on the Board   
Federal employees serving as members of the Board may participate in discussions, offer proposed 
suggestions for Board actions, and advance the goal of further integrating agency programs with respect 
to fishery habitat conservation. This includes engaging in discussions of agency policy, advising other 
Board members about their own agency’s goals and criteria in awarding funds, and commenting on 
proposed suggestions for program activities. In all cases, federal employees may offer to make 
recommendations to other officials within their own agencies regarding ideas and concepts discussed 
during Board meetings and conferences. 


 
The Federal Advisory Committee Act (FACA) provides an orderly procedure for federal agencies to seek 
advice and assistance from citizens and experts. Any time a federal agency intends to establish, control, 
or manage an advisory group that includes persons other than federal, state, tribal, or local government  







8 | P a g e  
 
 
employees operating in their official capacities, the agency must comply with FACA and implementation 
guidelines.  The Board is not nominally or actually controlled by federal agencies; therefore, the Board  
is not an “advisory committee” as defined by the Federal Advisory Committee Act. State and private 
members maintain a leading, active role in the management and direction of the Board, and the Board  
is a collaborative undertaking, not predominately an advisory body to federal agencies. 


 


Figure 2. The Fish Habitat Partnerships 
 


 


 
 


 
FISH HABITAT PARTNERSHIPS 


 
Nineteen Fish Habitat Partnerships are implementing aquatic habitat conservation projects across the 
nation based on their scientific assessments and strategic plans.  Each Fish Habitat Partnership was 
recognized by the Board after demonstrating that it met the criteria established by the Board in the  
Policies and Guidance for Fish Habitat Partnerships. The 19 recognized Fish Habitat Partnerships and 
three “Candidate” Fish Habitat Partnerships are shown in Figure 2. 


 



http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/approved_fhp_guidance.pdf





9 | P a g e  
 
 
PARTNERS COALITION 


 
The Partner Coalition serves as an outlet for information-sharing on priorities, projects, and successes, 
while helping the Board to build a grassroots network of support for fish habitat conservation.  The 
Coalition consists of individuals and organizations who sign up through the web site (fishhabitat.org). 


 
FEDERAL CAUCUS 


 
Several federal agencies contribute to the work of the Partnership, not just the agencies that are 
represented on the Board. The Federal Caucus was created in 2005 to facilitate interaction among 
federal agencies and with other partners by: 


   providing communication links among federal agencies cooperating under the National Fish 
Habitat Partnership; 


   providing a mechanism through which federal partners can jointly identify strategies and 
resources to support goals of the National Fish Habitat Partnership; 


   ensuring that the National Fish Habitat Partnership helps agencies achieve their missions by 
enhancing partnerships and improving measurement of results and performance; and 


   enhancing networking and collaboration among federal partners, the National Fish Habitat 
Board, and other partners implementing the National Fish Habitat Action Plan. 


 
The Federal Caucus meets every three months or as needed. In 2012, the Caucus was instrumental in 
achieving a Secretarial Memorandum of Understanding in support of the Partnership, signed by the 
Secretaries of Agriculture, Commerce, and the Interior. 


 
BUDGETING 


 
Board Operations  
The Board approves an annual budget that includes funding for staffing resources, the work of the 
science and data committee, communications products and programs, partnership coordination, and 
Board travel. The budget runs on a calendar year basis, and is approved each year in January. 


 
The budget is recommended by Board staff, based on priorities of the Board. Board members guide the 
development of and approve Board priorities in line with the Action Plan objectives. The Association of 
Fish and Wildlife Agencies (AFWA) and the National Fish and Wildlife Foundation (NFWF) both serve as 
fiduciary agents for the Board. 


 
Revenues are received from federal sources, state agency contributions, Multistate Conservation 
Grants, and other grant sources. Typically, the USFWS provides funds to AFWA to support the Board’s 
priorities, and also directly funds Board priorities for science and data needs and web site development 
after consultation with the Board.  The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) and 
U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) also directly fund Board priorities for science and data needs. State 
agency funds are solicited on an ad hoc basis and are typically focused on key areas such as science 
and data support needs. Multistate Conservation Grants are dependent upon proposals making their 
way through a joint AFWA/USFWS process. 
 
Fish Habitat Partnership Funding 
Starting in FY 2014, the Service implemented a competitive, performance-based process to allocate 
project funds. Each year the Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) will distribute project funds to FHPs in two  







10 | P a g e  
 
 
categories: 1) stable operational support and 2) competitive, performance-based funds to encourage 
strategic conservation delivery. All project funds in both categories must be accounted for in the 
Fisheries Information System annually.  
 
Stable Operational Support  
Stable operational support will be provided to FHPs at a level of $75,000/year. FHPs may use the funds for 
operations (coordination, outreach, travel, etc.) and/or for fish habitat conservation projects (habitat 
restoration, assessment, planning, etc.) to maximize conservation results, with no restrictions on how the 
funds are split between operations and projects. To receive stable operational support each year, a 
partnership must meet the criteria set by the National Fish Habitat Board for recognizing FHPs (see Policies 
and Guidance for Fish Habitat Partnerships) and must submit a Work Plan and Accomplishments Report. 
 
Competitive, Performance-based Support 
Competitive, performance-based funds consist of the remaining project funds spread across three 
performance levels. FHPs will be assigned a performance level based on their ability to meet an 
increasingly complex set of criteria. At each performance level, an FHP must meet all criteria in order 
to qualify for that performance level. The basis for assigning FHP performance levels will be 1) a work 
plan with a one-year planning horizon, detailing how the FHP and its partners propose to use FWS 
project funds and 2) an accomplishments report describing how the FHP has implemented projects in 
the previous three years. 


 
 


COMMITTEES 
 
Three standing committees operate under the Board’s purview. These committees accomplish specific 
tasks undertaken by the Board and report back to the Board as necessary. 


 
Science & Data Committee 
The Science and Data Committee’s purpose is to provide scientific and data management expertise and 
oversight to advance the goals and objectives of the National Fish Habitat Board (Board) in a 
scientifically sound and strategic manner. 


 
Duties and roles of the Committee’s co-chairs and members include: 


Provide advice to the Board on setting future science and data priorities. 


Develop strategies for executing and implementing Board science and data priorities by ensuring 
the direction, purpose, and needs for future national assessments are well-defined. 


   Oversee, coordinate, and review the development of the national fish habitat assessment 
including, but not limited to, assisting the assessment teams with relevant contacts, data 
acquisition, and expertise as needed. 


 Provide expert advice and support on habitat and data issues to the Board, National Assessment 
Teams, and Fish Habitat Partnerships to ensure scientific data conformity and coordination 
between FHPs, partner agencies, and the Science and Data Committee. 


 
Communications Committee 
The Communications Committee’s role is to support the partnership by sustaining critical 
communications needs and initiatives. The Communications Committee plays an essential role in 
crafting the messages that raise awareness about the partnership and help build a community of 
support for fish habitat conservation. 


 



http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/approved_fhp_guidance.pdf

http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/approved_fhp_guidance.pdf





11 | P a g e  
 
 
Partnerships Committee 
The Partnerships Committee serves as a forum for preliminary discussions, fact-finding, and formulating 
recommendations for Board actions that affect Fish Habitat Partnerships. 


 
In addition to standing committees, the Board appoints ad hoc committees to address specific needs. As of 
April 2014, the following committees are active: 
 


 Government Affairs Committee, charged with identifying strategies to raise awareness of the 
Partnership among government agency leaders, and to improve linkages between the 
Partnership and government initiatives that affect fish habitat conservation. 


 


 501(c)(3) Committee, charged with leading the formation of the National Fish Habitat Fund, Inc. 
(non-profit corporation) 


 


 Marketing Committee, charged with leading the creation of an educational and outreach 
campaign to raise awareness of the critically important aquatic habitat conservation work being 
implemented through the National Fish Habitat Partnership  


 


NATIONAL FISH HABITAT BOARD STAFF 


 
The National Fish Habitat Board has a small staff that shares duties in support of Board efforts while also 
fulfilling specific roles.  Shared duties are as follows: 


Prepare materials necessary for Board actions 
Provide strategic Planning recommendations to Board for Plan implementation, including 
staffing levels, restructuring of teams, adding new teams, or permanent staff support for teams. 


   Support, and as appropriate, participate in Federal Caucus, Partners Coalition, and other 
stakeholder activities to insure consistency with Action Plan and implementation 


   Provide assistance to sub-committees and work groups that are formed by the Board 
 


The following individuals serve as staff to the Board: 


 Cecilia Lewis, FWS, 703-358-2102, cecilia_lewis@fws.gov   


 Emily Greene, NOAA Fisheries contractor, 301-427-8684, emily.greene@noaa.gov 


 Gary Whelan, Michigan DNR, 517-373-6948, whelang@michigan.gov 


 Andrea Ostroff, USGS, 703-648-4070, aostroff@usgs.gov 


 Ryan Roberts, AFWA, 202-624-5851, rroberts@fishwildlife.org 
 


Other individuals from partner agencies and organizations may also contribute to staffing the Board.  
 
National Fish Habitat Partnership Coordinator – Cecilia Lewis, FWS (interim) 


 Serve as the Board’s liaison with Fish Habitat Partnerships and facilitate communication among 
the Partnerships 


 Maintain and compile reports on accomplishments of Fish Habitat Partnerships 
 Maintain database of contact and other information on recognized and candidate Fish Habitat 


Partnerships 
 Provide information and guidance to prospective Fish Habitat Partnerships 
 Convene regular meetings of Federal agency personnel (the “Federal Caucus”) to promote 


awareness, coordination, and Federal agency contributions to NFHAP activities 
 Maintain database of Federal agency contact information and distribute information on 



mailto:cecilia_lewis@fws.gov

mailto:emily.greene@noaa.gov

mailto:

mailto:whelang@michigan.gov

mailto:aostroff@usgs.gov

mailto:rroberts@fishwildlife.org





12 | P a g e  
 


activities of the Board and NFHAP partners 
 Encourage Federal agencies to provide current contact information through the online Federal 


partners map 


 
Board Coordination – Emily Greene, NOAA Fisheries contractor  


 Coordinate communication with Board, Board staff, and among Board sub-committees. 
 Work with Board staff, Board Chair and Vice-Chair to prepare materials and assist in running 


Board meeting s three times a year. 
 Develop annual report to Board Chair each January summarizing Board activity during the past 


calendar year and highlighting any areas needing improvement 


 
Science and Data Coordination – Gary Whelan, MI DNR and Andrea Ostroff, USGS (Co-Chairs) 


 Establish measurement criteria and reporting protocols 
 Develop procedures and policies for reviewing science and data needs for NFHAP projects 
 Work with and support Fish Habitat Partnerships in following NFHAP science and data policies 


and procedures 


 Provide system classification and habitat assessment information 
 Communication with and assistance to data systems manager for data bases, or links to other 


systems needed for system classification, habitat assessment, and existing priorities databases 
 Produce and print Science and Data reports as directed by the Board 
 Assist and coordinate with Science and Data Committee on issues relating to National Fish 


Habitat Action Plan Implementation 


 
Communications Coordinator – Ryan Roberts, AFWA/NFHAP   


 Receive and disseminate information to partners and stakeholders and among teams and the 
board as directed by the Board 


 Produce information based materials for the public, partners and stakeholders as directed by 
the Board through core staff in support of other team functions 


 Produce information for target audiences as directed by the Board 
 Assist partners to communicate within organizations and agencies 


 Coordinate communications for consistency and accuracy with Action Plan and Board directives 
with other partner and stakeholder communication leads 


 Oversee development and maintain content of www.fishhabitat.org website and social media outlets 


 Coordinate outreach materials for Action Plan Initiatives and Fish Habitat Partnerships as 
needed 


 Tailor development functions to successfully implement and support Science/Data, 
Communication, Partnership, and Partner Outreach support and other Action Plan resource 
related needs to insure successful implementation consistent with Action Plan and Board 
direction 


 Work with the legislative team on strategic planning for communications related materials to benefit 
the National Fish Habitat Conservation Act 


 Actively coordinate with State fisheries coordinators on NFHAP communications materials relative to 
the States 


 


 
  



http://www.fishhabitat.org/





13 | P a g e  
 
 
POLICY AND TECHNICAL DOCUMENTS APPROVED BY THE NATIONAL FISH HABITAT BOARD 


 
Information about the Board not covered in the above summary is included in the Board Charter which 
is included in this guide as Appendix B. 


 
The following documents provide additional background and information on past guidance to the Fish 
Habitat Partnerships and serve as a record of the Board’s policy and technical positions. These will help 
provide new members with historical context and a foundation from which to work in order to advance 
the National Fish Habitat Partnership.  For those documents which cannotl be found on 
www.fishhabitat.org, please contact Emily Greene (emily.greene@noaa.gov) : 
 


• Policies and Guidance for Fish Habitat Partnerships (October 8, 2008) 
• Recommended Strategic Plan Framework for Fish Habitat Partnerships (October 8, 2008) 
• Process for Recognizing New Fish Habitat Partnerships (March 4, 2010) 
•  Guidance o n the Use o f the “ Natio nal Fish Habitat Actio n P lan” Brand (October 7, 2009) 
•  A Framewo rk fo r Assessing the Natio n’s Fish Habitats (October 2008) 
• Final Interim Strategies and Targets for National Fish Habitat Action Plan (November 8, 2007) 
•  Through a Fish’s Eye: the Status o f Fish Habitats in the United States 2010 (April 2011) 
• National Fish Habitat Action Plan (2nd Ed.)  
• Project Prioritization Criteria (February 2013) 
• Fish Habitat Partnership Evaluation (February 2013) 
• National Fish Habitat Conservation Strategies (February 2013) 


 
 
 


  



http://www.fishhabitat.org/

http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/approved_fhp_guidance.pdf

http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/Final_NFHAP_Strategic_Plan_Framework.pdf

http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/PROCESS_FOR_RECOGNIZING_NEW_FISH_HABITAT_PARTNERSHIPS.pdf

http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/NFHAP_Branding_Guidance.pdf

http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/Framework_for_Assessing_the_Nations_Fish_Habitat.pdf

http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/Final_Interim_Strategies_Targets_0.pdf

http://fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/fishhabitatreport_012611_1.pdf

http://static.fishhabitat.org/sites/default/files/www/NFHP_AP_Final_0.pdf





14 | P a g e  
 


 
Appendix A 


 
DEFINITIONS 


 


National Fish Habitat Partnership 
The National Fish Habitat Partnership is an organization established to conserve fish habitat nationwide, 
leveraging federal funds with private funds to achieve the greatest impact on the landscape through 
priority conservation projects. The National Fish Habitat Partnership is aimed at growing a community 
of support concerned about fish habitat conservation and the future of our aquatic habitats. 


 
Fish Habitat Partnership 
A National Fish Habitat Board approved group of state, federal, local, nonprofit, tribal, Alaskan Native or 
private individuals or entities that coordinate to implement the Plan at a regional level.  Fish habitat 
conservation projects proposed by these FHPs are eligible for funding as NFHAP projects. 


 
Candidate Fish Habitat Partnership 
A partnership that is working toward recognition by the Board to become a recognized Fish Habitat 
Partnership. Candidate Fish Habitat Partnerships are eligible for coordination and technical assistance 
from the Board. Fish habitat conservation projects proposed by these Partnerships are eligible for 
funding as NFHAP projects. 


 
Coalition Partner 
A group that is not working toward recognition by the Board as a Fish Habitat Partnership, but that is 
working to achieve the goals of the Action Plan through the conservation of fish habitat. Coalition 
Partners will share in the coordination and technical assistance provided by the Board. 


 
Fish Habitat Conservation Project 
Fish Habitat Conservation Projects are: 


1. approved actions taken for the conservation or management of aquatic habitat for fish and 
other aquatic organisms; 


2. the provision of technical assistance to states and local communities to facilitate development 
of strategies and priorities for aquatic habitat conservation; 


3. the obtaining of a real property interest in lands or waters, including water rights, if the 
obtaining of such interest is subject to terms and conditions that will ensure that the real 
property will be administered for the long-term conservation of such lands and waters and the 
fish dependent thereon.  Real property interest means any ownership interest in lands or a 
building or an object that is permanently affixed to land. 


 


  







15 | P a g e  
 


 


Appendix B 
 
NATIONAL FISH HABITAT BOARD CHARTER 


(Adopted by the Board on September 22, 2006; revised April 19, 2007, and October 13, 2010) 
 
I. BACKGROUND 
The National Fish Habitat Board (hereafter “Board”) is responsible for carrying out a cooperative 
nationwide program to conserve (protect, restore and enhance) the habitats of the Nation’s marine and 
freshwater fish populations. The Board is a voluntary association of public and private sector entities 
that serves as the body overseeing the implementation of the National Fish Habitat Action Plan (“Plan”). 


 
II. . MISSION and GOALS 
The purpose of the Board is to promote, oversee, and coordinate implementation of the Plan. 
The Board’s mission is to conserve (protect, restore and enhance) the nation’s fish and aquatic 
communities through partnerships that foster fish habitat conservation and improve the quality of life 
for the American people. 
This mission will be achieved by: 


• Providing national leadership and coordination to conserve fish habitats. 
• Approving and supporting Fish Habitat Partnerships and fostering new efforts. 
• Establishing interim and long-term national fish habitat conservation goals and supporting 


regional fish habitat conservation goals. 
• Mobilizing and focusing national and local support for fish habitat conservation. 
• Measuring and communicating the status and needs of fish habitats. 


 
The Board’s goals are to: 


• Protect and maintain intact and healthy aquatic systems. 
• Prevent further degradation of fish habitats that have been adversely affected. 
• Reverse declines in the quality and quantity of aquatic habitats to improve the overall health of 


fish and other aquatic organisms. 
• Increase the quality and quantity of fish habitats that support a broad natural diversity of fish 


and other aquatic species. 
• Increase fish and therefore fishing opportunities. 


 
In furtherance of the Plan’s mission, the Board's role is to: 


• Coordinate agency and stakeholder involvement at the national level. 
• Develop appropriate policies and guidance for recognizing Fish Habitat Partnerships. 
• Develop processes to prioritize and deliver National Fish Habitat Action Plan funds to the 


partnerships. 
• Develop criteria for funding and related resources. 
• Establish national partnerships or other arrangements that provide funding and other resources 


to the Fish Habitat Partnerships and other efforts of the Plan. 
• Establish national measures of success and evaluation criteria guidelines for Fish Habitat 


Partnerships and facilitate Fish Habitat Partnership adaptation of these guidelines for their 
unique systems. 


• Report to Congress, States and other partners on the status and accomplishments of the 
National Fish Habitat Action Plan. 


• Carry out such administrative, organizational, or procedural matters as are necessary or proper. 


 
III. BOARD BYLAWS 







16 | P a g e  
 
A. Appointment – The Board will be appointed by the Executive Leadership Team (ELT). The membership 
of the ELT shall consist of: the President and Executive Director of the Association of Fish and Wildlife 
Agencies; Assistant Administrator for Fisheries, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration; and 
the Director of the Fish and Wildlife Service, Department of the Interior. The ELT will have final 
responsibility for appointment and, if necessary, removal of all Board members, except those serving by 
virtue of their office. 


 
B. Membership 


1. Members--The Board shall consist of up to 22 members. 
2. State Government Representatives--The Board shall include five state fish and wildlife agency 


representatives and the Executive Director of the Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies. Each 
of the four regional Associations of Fish and Wildlife Agencies (Northeast, Southeast, Midwest, 
and Western) shall nominate a representative to the ELT for approval. The fifth state 
representative will be appointed by the ELT. These representatives shall be selected to create an 
appropriate balance between inland and coastal states. The Executive Director of the  
Association shall serve by the virtue of his or her office. 


3. Federal Government Representatives.—The Board shall include up to five federal agency 
representatives. These shall include the Assistant Administrator for Fisheries, National Oceanic 
and Atmospheric Administration, and the Director of the Fish and Wildlife Service, Department 
of the Interior, who shall serve by virtue of their office. 


4. Indian Tribal Representation—The Board shall include at least one representative from an Indian 
tribal or native Alaskan government. 


5. The National Fish and Wildlife Foundation and the American Fisheries Society each shall 
nominate a representative for approval by the ELT. 


6. The remaining eight members shall be appointed to ensure the Board includes representation 
from the following range of interests: sportfishing, commercial fishing, sportfishing industry, 
academic, and land and aquatic resource conservation organizations. In addition, these 
members shall be appointed to ensure the Board includes a balance of governmental and non- 
governmental organizations and a balance of freshwater and marine interests. 


 
C. Terms of Service 


1. Normal Term—Except as provided in paragraphs (3) and (4) of this Subsection, the term of office 
of a member of the Board is three years. 


2. Members whose terms have expired shall serve until replaced. 
3. Initial Appointment—The initial appointment of the charter Board shall be for a term of three 


years. 
4. Transitional Re-appointment – Except for the members appointed under paragraphs (2), (4) and 


(5) of Section III.B., four shall be re-appointed initially for a term of one year, four shall be re- 
appointed for a term of two years, and up to five shall be re-appointed for a term of three years. 


After these transitional terms, terms will be as provided in paragraph (1) of this Subsection. 


5. Vacancies—Any vacancy among the Board members shall be filled through appointment by the 
ELT, and any Board member appointed to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of that 
term for which his or her predecessor was appointed. 


 
D. Procedures 


1. Selection of Board Chair-- At the first meeting of the Board, the Board shall elect a Chair from 
the state government membership of the Board. Each subsequent Chair shall be elected by the 
Board from among the state government representatives. 


2. Term of Chair—The term of any Chair shall be two years, provided that any Chair may serve 
successive terms.  No Chair shall serve more than 3 consecutive terms. 







17 | P a g e  
 


3. Meetings--The Board shall meet at the call of the Chair at least twice a year. The Chair shall 
endeavor to establish a proposed meeting schedule identifying potential meeting dates within 
the twelve month period following each meeting of the Board. Except as provided below, the 
Chair must give Board members at least two months’ notice of a Board meeting and shall 
provide a draft agenda at that time. Notice must be provided in writing, but may be delivered by 
email or facsimile to each Board member. The Chair with due cause may call the Board for 
emergency meetings, provided, however, that business of the meeting must be restricted to the 
reasons for which the meeting is called.   Board meetings shall be open to the public, provided, 
however, that the Board may meet in executive sessions closed to the public to discuss 
personnel, legal matters, or any other matter of a private or necessarily confidential nature. 
These closed sessions shall be clearly identified in the meeting announcement. Notification of 
Board meetings shall be made to members of the Partners Coalition and other interested 
parties. 


4. Quorum—A majority of the current membership of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business. 


5. Participation and Attendance--If a Board member is not able to attend a Board meeting he or 
she may appoint a designee provided an official proxy is signed and presented to the Board 
Chair. A Board member may designate another Board member to hold his/her proxy, but no 
Board member may hold more than 1 proxy. If a Board member, other than a Board member 
who serves by virtue of office, fails to attend three consecutive regularly scheduled meetings, 
the Chair, in consultation with the ELT, may remove that person from the Board and request 
that the ELT appoint a replacement. A Board member may participate in a Board meeting by 
conference call with the prior approval of the Chair. If a Board member, other than a Board 
member who serves by virtue of office, attends three consecutive regularly scheduled meetings 
by conference call, the Chair, in consultation with the ELT, may remove that person from the 
Board and request that the ELT appoint a replacement. 


6. Voting—The Board should strive to achieve consensus on all actions proposed. If consensus 
cannot be achieved within the time frame allotted to the action on the agenda, all actions must 
be approved by the vote of two-thirds of all members present and voting. Each Board member 
shall have one vote. All voting shall proceed under Robert’s Rules of Order. The Board may 
extend the discussion period for items on the agenda, or consider items not on the proposed 
agenda for a meeting, provided that such changes to the agenda must be approved by a vote at 
the time they are proposed. 


7. Other Procedures--The Board shall establish other procedures as needed to schedule meetings, 
develop agendas, and otherwise facilitate and conduct business, including those procedures or 
matters required to comply with any requirements resulting from incorporation of the Board 
under law. 


8. Chair’s Responsibilities—In addition to such duties established elsewhere in these bylaws, the 
Chair shall: 


a. Prepare a written agenda of all matters to be considered by the Board at any meeting; 
b. Prepare and issue all notices, including notices of meetings, required to be given to the 


Board and public; 
c. Preside at all meetings of the Board and, unless otherwise directed by the Board, 


present items of business for consideration by the Board in the order listed on the 
agenda for the meeting; 


d. Conduct all meetings in accordance with Robert’s Rules of Order and these bylaws; 
e. Appoint committees as required; and 
f. Perform other duties as requested by the Board. 


9. Appointment of Vice-Chair—The Board shall elect a Vice-Chair from among the Board 
membership. In the absence of the Chair, or in the event of the Chair’s inability to act, or a 







18 | P a g e  
 


conflict of interest for the Chair, the Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair, and when 
so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the Chair. The 
Vice-Chair shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the Chair or 
by the ELT. The term of the Vice-Chair shall be the same as the term of the Chair. 


 
E. Board Responsibilities 


1. Coordination - The Board will coordinate agency and stakeholder involvement at the national 
level and establish national partnerships that provide funding and other resources to the 
Partnerships and other efforts of the Plan. 


 
2. Conservation Goals and Objectives - The Board will develop and amend, as appropriate, specific 


national fish habitat conservation goals and objectives with the advice from the Science and 
Data Committee established pursuant to Paragraph (2) of Subsection F of this Section. 


 
3. Partnerships - The Board will develop and amend, as appropriate, a strategy to encourage the 


formation of Fish Habitat Partnerships (“Partnerships”). This strategy will be updated 
periodically to include new information on fish habitat status and the status of existing 
Partnerships. 


 
4. Recognition of Partnerships - The Board shall develop and amend, as appropriate, criteria for 


recognition of Partnerships. The Board shall distribute the criteria, establish a process for parties 
to use in seeking recognition as a Partnership, and maintain a publicly accessible registry of 
recognized Partnerships. Such criteria shall include provisions to promote transparency and the 
highest standards of ethical conduct in the decision-making of the Board regarding recognition 
of Partnerships. 


 
5. Evaluation Criteria- The Board will establish national measures of success and evaluation criteria 


guidelines for Partnerships 


 
6. Funding - The Board will develop and implement strategies to increase public and private 


funding for fish habitat conservation, provided that the responsibility for implementation of 
such strategies by any Board member shall be limited by any legal or administrative restrictions 
that may apply to the activities of any such member. 


7. Report - The Board will develop a strategy (including funding) to support development of a“Status 


of Fish Habitats in the United States” report to Congress States, and other partners. The report 


shall be completed in 2010, and every 5 years after. 


 
F. Coordination and Support 


1. Staff–The Board shall accept staff support provided by The Association of Fish and Wildlife 
Agencies, the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration’s National Marine Fisheries 
Service, and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. The Chair, in consultation with the contributing 
entities, shall act on behalf of the Board in directing the activities of the staff. The Chair, in 
consultation with the Board, may accept additional staff or other support from other entities. 
The contributing entities shall use their best efforts to provide common office space for all 
Board staff and take such other measures as they deem appropriate to facilitate 
communication, cohesiveness, and efficient operations for the benefit of the Board. 


2. Science and Data Committee --The Board shall establish a Science and Data Committee chaired 
by a State representative or another entity recommended by the Committee and approved by 
the Board, and consisting of at least two State agency representatives, two Federal agency 
representatives, two non-governmental organization representatives, and two academic 







19 | P a g e  
 


representatives. All Committee members will have demonstrated knowledge of the Plan’s 
science foundation. The Board shall solicit information from the Science and Data Committee 
and incorporate that information, and other appropriate information, into the strategies and 
goals developed by the Board. The Board will support the Science and Data Team by providing 
necessary staff, funding, data and other resources needed to complete the national assessments 
and reports called for in the Plan. 


3. Federal Caucus–The Board shall coordinate with the broadest possible range of Federal agencies 
through the Federal Caucus, a partnership of Federal agencies organized to coordinate Federal 
participation in the implementation of the Action Plan, and make every attempt to expand the 
Federal Caucus to include all Federal agencies involved with fish habitat. The Board shall 
coordinate with the Federal agencies to develop and implement habitat protection and 
rehabilitation strategies at national and regional scales, to ensure that Federal agencies policies 
are consistent with the Plan, and to otherwise support implementation of the Plan. 


4. Partners Coalition--The Board shall coordinate with the broadest possible range of stakeholders 
and other interested parties to increase involvement and support for coordinated fish habitat 
conservation at national and regional scales. 


 
G. Committees 
The Board may establish and otherwise manage committees as needed to carry out the responsibilities 
of the Board. Such committees may include individuals who are not members of the Board. 


 
H. Board and Committee Expenses 
Board and Committee members will not be compensated for their time working on Board or Committee 
business or traveling to meetings. Travel expenses generally should be borne by the agency or other 
entity that employs the Board or Committee member, but reimbursement arrangements may be made 
if funds for this purpose are available. 


 
IV. . Procedure to Amend Charter 
The Board may decide to amend this charter by consensus or a two-thirds vote of all members present 
and voting. Any proposed change to this charter must be noted on the draft agenda that is sent out at 
the time the meeting is scheduled. 





